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We are offering 5,000,000 shares of our common stock of Ondas Holdings Inc. The public offering price for each share of common stock is $6.00.
Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQB of OTC Markets Group, Inc. (the “OTCQB”), under the symbol “ONDSD,” and, to date, has traded on a limited basis. As of
December 3, 2020, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the OTCQB Market was $12.64. Our common stock has been approved for listing on The Nasdaq
Capital Market (the “Nasdaq”) under the symbol “ONDS,” and will begin trading on Nasdaq on December 4, 2020.

We are an “emerging growth company” under applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules and will be subject to reduced public company reporting requirements.
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Public offering price $ 6.00 § 30,000,000
Underwriting discounts and commissions(!) $ 042 $ 2,100,000
Proceeds to Ondas Holdings Inc., before expenses $ 558 $ 27,900,000

(1) The underwriters will receive compensation in addition to the underwriting discount. See “Underwriting” beginning on page 81. The underwriters have the option to purchase
up to an additional 750,000 shares of our common stock from us at the public offering price, less the underwriting discounts and commissions, within 30 days after the date
of this prospectus to cover over-allotments, if any.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. See “Risk Factors,” beginning on page 13.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or
accuracy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
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We have not authorized anyone to provide any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this prospectus or in any free
writing prospectuses we have prepared. We take no responsibility for, and can provide no assurance as to the reliability of, any other information that others may
give you. This prospectus is an offer to sell only the shares offered hereby, but only under circumstances and in jurisdictions where it is lawful to do so. The
information contained in this prospectus is current only as of its date.

For investors outside the United States: We have not, and the underwriters have not, done anything that would permit this offering or possession or distribution of this
prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other than the United States. Persons outside of the United States who come into possession of this
prospectus must inform themselves about, and observe any restrictions relating to, the offering of the shares of common stock and the distribution of this prospectus outside of
the United States.

Market and Other Industry Data

Unless otherwise indicated, market data and certain industry forecasts used throughout this prospectus were obtained from various sources, including internal surveys,
market research, consultant surveys, publicly available information and industry publications and surveys. Industry surveys, publications, consultant surveys and forecasts
generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of such information is not
guaranteed. We have not independently verified any of the data from third-party sources nor have we ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon therein.
Similarly, internal surveys, industry forecasts and market research, which we believe to be reliable based upon our management’s knowledge of the industry, have not been
independently verified. The future performance of the industry and markets in which we operate and intend to operate is necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and
risk due to a variety of factors, including those described in the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-looking Statements” and elsewhere in this
prospectus. These and other factors could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in these publications and reports.




PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information contained elsewhere in this prospectus and does not contain all the information that you should consider before
making your investment decision. Before investing in our common stock, you should carefully read this entire prospectus, including the information set forth under the “Risk
Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” sections of this prospectus and our consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying notes included in this prospectus. Except as otherwise indicated herein or as the context otherwise requires, references in this prospectus
to “Ondas Holdings,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Ondas Holdings Inc. and our consolidated subsidiaries, including our wholly-owned subsidiary,
Ondas Networks Inc.; references to “Ondas Networks” refers to our wholly-owned subsidiary, Ondas Networks Inc.

Overview

Ondas Networks provides wireless connectivity solutions enabling mission-critical Industrial Internet applications and services. We refer to these applications as the
Mission-Critical Internet of Things (“MC-10T”). The Company’s wireless networking products are applicable to a wide range of MC-IoT applications, which are most often
located at the very edge of large industrial networks. These applications require secure, real time connectivity with the ability to process large amounts of data at the edge.
Such applications are required in all of the major critical infrastructure markets, including rail, electric grids, drones, oil and gas, and public safety and government, where
secure, reliable and fast operational decisions are required in order to improve efficiency and ensure a high degree of safety and security. We design, develop, manufacture,
sell and support FullMAX, our patented, Software Defined Radio (“SDR”) platform for secure, licensed, private, wide-area broadband networks. Our customers install
FullMAX systems in order to upgrade and expand their legacy wide-area network (“WAN”) infrastructure. Our MC-IoT intellectual property has been adopted by the
Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (“IEEE”), the leading worldwide standards body in data networking protocols, and forms the core of the IEEE 802.16s
standard. Because standards-based communications solutions are preferred by our mission-critical customers and ecosystem partners, Ondas has taken a leadership position
in IEEE as it relates to wireless networking for industrial markets. As such, management believes this standards-based approach supports the adoption of the Company’s
technology across a burgeoning ecosystem of partners and end markets.

Our FullMAX SDR platform is an important and timely upgrade solution for privately-owned and operated wireless WANS, leveraging Internet Protocol-based
communications to provide more reliability and data capacity for our mission-critical infrastructure customers. Critical infrastructure markets throughout the globe have
reached an inflection point where legacy serial and analog based protocols and network transport systems no longer meet industry needs. In addition to offering enhanced
data throughput, FullMAX is an intelligent networking platform enabling the adoption of sophisticated operating systems and equipment supporting next-generation MC-IoT
applications over wide field areas. These new MC-IoT applications and related equipment require more processing power at the edge and the efficient utilization of network
capacity and scarce bandwidth resources which can be supported by the “Fog-computing” capability integrated in our end-to-end network platform. Fog-computing utilizes
management software to enable edge compute processing and data and application prioritization in the field enabling our customers more reliable, real-time operating control
of these new, intelligent MC-IoT equipment and applications at the Edge.




We sell our products and services globally through a direct sales force and value-added sales partners to critical infrastructure providers including major rail
operators, commercial and industrial drone operators, electric and gas utilities, water and wastewater utilities, oil and gas producers and pipeline operators, and for other
critical infrastructure applications in areas such as homeland security and defense, and transportation. We continue to develop our value-added reseller relationships which
today include a major strategic partnership with Siemens Mobility for the development of new types of wireless connectivity for the North American Rail. In addition, Ondas
and JVCKenwood, a global supplier of Land Mobile Radio (LMR) systems, have jointly responded to a request from the rail industry for the design and delivery of a next
generation data and voice platform. We believe our Siemens’ partnership and our joint effort with JVCKenwood are indicative of the potential for additional Tier 1
partnerships in our other vertical markets including securing reseller relationships with major suppliers to the worldwide government and homeland security markets. These
partnerships are being driven by the flexibility of our FullMAX software to support legacy industrial protocols (e.g. Push to Talk Voice, Dial-up Serial Data
Communications, and Advanced Train Control System — ATCS) while simultaneously operating our state of the art MC-IoT protocols. This dual and multi-mode software
capability provides major industrial customers with a seamless migration path to advanced internet-protocol-based networks. Over time, these legacy functions, like Push to
Talk Voice and ATCS, are transformed into just several of many new data applications we can support.

Background

The Internet of Things (“IoT”) is transforming the way businesses and industries function with a massive shift from on-premise locally executed software to cloud
computing. [oT is applicable across all global consumer, enterprise, industrial and government markets. By storing and processing data using cloud technology, there is now
an ability to access, analyze and utilize vast amounts of information and liberate operators from accessing data in limited amounts. Cloud computing has enabled the access
of additional features on IoT devices such as smartphones, computers and laptops without the need for investing in additional computing power or memory.

However, specific areas of [oT, particularly the mission-critical industrial markets, have additional requirements when compared to enterprise and consumer
markets. With industrial markets, the bulk of the critical assets are dispersed over vast field area operations and varying geographical locations. This wide dispersion of assets
shifts the emphasis from the centralized private Cloud to the network edge and Fog which requires reliance on edge computing and the processing of data in the field, closer
to the source of the data generation. The primary benefit of Fog networks is to enable the execution of mission-critical functions and manage and operate intelligent field
equipment and systems many of which require real-time decision-making. Edge computing is required for low-latency applications where real-time performance is critical for
safety and efficient systems performance. In addition, processing data closer to the source improves reliability and offers security benefits. The Fog and edge computing
advantages enabled by our FullMAX technology are now driving the adoption of our connectivity solutions by some of the largest industrial companies worldwide including
the major North American freight rail operators.




In a MC-IoT wide-area network, a Fog-computing architecture requires an intelligent communications system able to manage all network resources, including edge
remotes, smart equipment and machinery and other network elements such as sensor networks. Importantly, advanced MC-IoT applications require highly reliable network
performance over the air with customized Quality of Service (“QoS”) standards which are not available in legacy narrowband wireless networks. The intelligent
communications system is coordinated via base stations which contain network management software algorithms designed to control critical operations and distribute
bandwidth across multiple edge computing applications required by customers. The Fog-computing environment can be further enhanced by high-power edge remote radios
with embedded computing power and software providing the ability to host MC-IoT software applications or to reliably interface with intelligent equipment and sensor
networks deployed across the field of operations. The interplay between base stations and remote edge radios requires a robust software communications layer to ensure that
network performance and operating data is properly communicated to the corporate cloud located in the network operations center.

Fog Computing Slower

Corporate Cloud
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For example, the North American freight rail operators are seeking to deploy new, on-locomotive and wayside MC-IoT technologies along the track in order to
reliably enhance safety and improve efficiency and profitability of train operations. These rail operators currently operate antiquated legacy communications systems utilizing
serial based narrowband wireless technologies for voice and data communications. These legacy wireless networks have limited data capacity and are unable to support the
adoption of new, intelligent train control and management systems. In addition to data capacity challenges, rail operators need to reliably cover the vast and often remotely
located rail track and related infrastructure which extends nationwide over 140,000 miles. The rail operators require a next-generation, robust broadband system with
significantly increased data throughput capacity and Fog networking capability. A transition to integrated Fog-computing communications wireless systems will enable the
rail operators to drive more intelligence to the edge of their operating environments enabling real time automation and better operator control of many critical operating
systems related to train control, crossing safety, train and track integrity and drone operations. This upgrade cycle is being driven by a recent key event which occurred in
May 2020 in which the Class 1 rail systems in the U.S. were awarded new nationwide “greenfield” wideband radio spectrum by the Federal Communications Committee
(“FCC”). As part of the award, the rail operators are required, over the next three years, to vacate a series of legacy narrowband channels. The completion of this multiyear
negotiation between the FCC and other licensed users is projected to generate a major network upgrade cycle for the rail industry.




There are many other mission-critical industries across the globe operating private networks that are similarly constrained by their legacy narrowband wireless
communications systems. The lack of bandwidth, appropriate software and integrated edge computing and Fog capability are a bottleneck for the adoption of next-generation
MC-IoT applications and intelligent equipment that can serve to create more efficient, profitable, and safer operations. This can be seen in Land Mobile Radio (“LMR”)
markets where legacy critical voice networks lack increasingly valuable data capacity and next generation networks such as FullMAX can provide voice over IP as a data
application. Similarly, the adoption of smart grid technologies by electric utilities, well pump automation systems by oil producers and new navigation systems for
commercial and industrial drones require new, robust wireless network platforms such as FullMAX that can also offer the capability of Fog-computing architectures.

Our Platform Solution

Ondas was founded in 2006 to develop a new type of radio platform specifically to meet the evolving data needs of large industrial and government customers and
markets. These markets are differentiated from consumer markets in that the customers assets are dispersed over very wide and remote geographies with specific challenges
to installation, maintenance, and upgrades. These challenges led us to design a new type of software-based radio platform capable of supporting a long useful life to the
network hardware. Instead of using dedicated communications chipsets (“ASICs”), which have high development costs and limited upgrade flexibility, we selected powerful
programmable embedded general-purpose processors, DSPs, and FPGAs, all of which are software upgradable. Our software defined radio (“SDR”) architecture, with more
than 12 years in development and supported by a team of 45 software engineers, allows us to customize almost any aspect of the air interface protocol, the key components of
which are patented and have been incorporated into new IEEE wireless standards. The ability to constantly improve customer networks and hosted software applications with
flexible, over-the-air software upgrade creates customer stickiness with high switching costs.

FullMAX Software: Our FullMAX SDR platform is designed to enable highly secure and reliable industrial-grade connectivity for truly mission-critical
applications. An end-to-end FullMAX network consists of connected wireless base stations, fixed and mobile edge radios and supporting technology all enabled by critical
software developed and owned by Ondas. The target customers for our products operate in critical infrastructure sectors of the global economy. Private wireless networks are
typically the preferred choice of these large industrial customers with business operations spanning large field areas. Private networks provide enhanced protection against
cyber terrorism, as well as natural and man-made disasters, and the ability for the operator to maintain and control their desired quality of service.

In many of our industrial end markets, the adoption of low-cost Edge computing and increased penetration of “smart machinery” and sensors is driving demand for
higher bandwidth, next-generation networks for IoT applications such as those powered by FullMAX. These new technologies often require Fog-computing capabilities to
maximize their utility to customers. The Fog-computing capability integrated in our end-to-end FullMAX SDR platform is valued by our customers and ecosystem partners as
they seek to leverage the value of MC-IoT applications for improved safety, efficiency, and profitability. Our IEEE 802.16s compliant equipment is designed to optimize
performance of unused or underutilized low frequency licensed radio spectrum and narrower channels. We do this through various patented software algorithms including via
“spectrum harvesting” techniques which aggregate narrowband channels to create increased broadband network capacity. Our channel aggregation algorithms include the
ability to aggregate hard to utilize, non-contiguous narrowband channels and are a hallmark feature of a FullMAX broadband system. Consequently, a FullMAX wireless
network is significantly less expensive to build compared to traditional LTE and 5G networks given its ability to optimize the performance of lower cost, low frequency radio
spectrum and provide much greater coverage and capacity.




The critical software algorithms powering our end-to-end FullMAX wireless SDR platform and related Fog-computing architecture have been developed by and are
owned by Ondas. FullMAX is an intelligent networking system which integrates core network management systems with edge computing resources including computing
hardware and MC-IoT software applications. In the MC-IoT Fog enabled by FullMAX, base stations are enabled with a highly configurable Quality of Service algorithms
which coordinate the data traffic within the Fog for both the edge radio and the resident MC-IoT applications. The intelligent base stations control and manage all network
resources including the Ondas edge remotes; dynamically allocating bandwidth, prioritizing data packets and managing edge applications. The intelligent software-managed
base stations determine whether to process data at the edge, distribute data traffic across the Fog to other edge remote radios or to transport information to the corporate
Cloud. Ondas’ Edge remotes have embedded compute capability and are able to host MC-IoT applications including those from third party vendors via virtualized software
systems managed in docker / container architectures and can also manage data from intelligent equipment or sensor networks that interface with the edge remotes in the field.
The Ondas software-managed edge remotes offer security via authentication, multi-layer encryption and virtual software firewalls which are requirements for mission-critical
data networks.
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Our FullMAX Software Defined Radio platform:

offers a dedicated private network for industrial applications which safeguards critical assets and information and protects against cyberattacks;
has frequency agility with the capability to operate in any frequency between 70 MHz and 6 GHz;

may be deployed in a wide variety of narrow and broadband channel sizes and can aggregate non-contiguous channels; and

implements standard and enhanced versions of the IEEE 802.16 protocol, the new 802.16s amendment, and the planned 802.16t enhancements.

FullMAX System: FullMAX base stations and edge radios are deployed by our customers to create wide-area wireless communication networks. A FullMAX
network provides end-to-end IP connectivity, allowing critical infrastructure providers to extend their secure corporate networks into the far reaches of their service
territories. A FullMAX network also provides more data capacity allowing our customers to transition legacy applications such critical Push-to-Talk Voice operating in
legacy LMR networks to Voice over IP data networks which provide network capacity for other data requirements alongside voice. We refer to these networks as Land
Mobile Data Radio (LMDR) systems.

FullMAX radios can operate at high transmit power (up to 100 watts) at both the base station and edge remote sites providing fixed and mobile data connectivity up
to 30 miles from the tower site. This results in up to 2,800 square miles of coverage from a single FullMAX tower compared with the 28 square miles typically supported by
other 4G technologies and three-square miles by 5G technologies. This dramatically reduces the infrastructure cost of building and operating a private Fog network. For
example, to cover a territory of over 10,000 square miles may require only four FullMAX towers compared with more than 350 typical 4G towers, depending on the
topography of the region.

We also provide a variety of services associated with the sale of our FullMAX products including network design, RF planning, product training and spectrum
consulting. We provide customers with technical support, extended hardware warranties, and software.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to be a global leader in providing secure wireless connectivity solutions enabling high-bandwidth, mission-critical Industrial Internet applications and
services. We intend to leverage our patented FullMAX technology and the IEEE 802.16s standard to achieve this goal. We have adopted a “Deep and Wide” marketing
strategy designed to drive adoption of our mission-critical connectivity solutions into global critical infrastructure end markets. Our strategy is to deeply penetrate the Class 1
Freight Rail, government and aviation markets while continuing the expansion of our distribution and support capabilities alongside ecosystem partners such as Siemens into
adjacent vertical end markets such as oil and gas, electric, gas and water utilities and military sectors.

The key elements of our growth strategy include the following:

e  Deliver on sales pipeline opportunities;

e  Secure additional marketing partnerships and OEM relationships;

e Develop new products and features to continuously improve our customer value; and
e  Expand our MC-IoT capabilities via partnerships, joint ventures, or acquisitions.

In executing our go-to-market strategy, we intend to monetize our software-based intellectual property and grow revenue and cash flow with embedded FullMAX
software sales, Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) arrangements, IP royalties based on Ondas software and through additional services provided to customers and ecosystem
partners. Customers deploy our connectivity and Fog-computing platform in private networks that designed for lifetimes of 10 — 15 years or even longer. Our FullMAX
platform is software-defined and offers customers flexibility to expand capacity and evolve network utilization. Similarly, our ecosystem partners often integrate our
FullMAX software and wireless capability into their own equipment and systems which their customers purchase and deploy are also designed for long lifetimes. As such,
we believe our software solutions provide ongoing revenue opportunities and sales models both related to both connectivity value and edge computing capability. Customers
and ecosystem partners will require ongoing FullMAX system and security enhancements and for us to design additional features which create opportunities for additional,
recurring revenue and profit streams. Our monetization strategies include:

Systems sales: Our FullMAX deployments are typically large, mission-critical wide-area networks deployed and privately operated by our industrial and
government customers. These end-to-end system deployments involve sales consisting of both base stations and edge radio end points with embedded FullMAX software
and network management software and tools.




Software and hardware maintenance agreements: Our customers contract for extended software and hardware maintenance which provide them with critical ongoing
support for their installed network. These SaaS contracts provide revenue to Ondas in the year following an initial installation. Software maintenance licenses entitle the
customer to ongoing software and security upgrades as well as enabling the provision of additional system features. Similarly, hardware maintenance programs provide
customers extended equipment warranty terms for an installed network. These SaaS maintenance arrangements allow our customers to continue to maintain a modern,
flexible, and upgradeable network over a long period of time. These agreements may extend for multiple years given the long average life of the installed and growing
network.

Licensing / Royalties: In certain system deployments, our ecosystem partners will choose to embed FullMAX software into their own hardware and software
platforms providing Ondas with an ongoing per device multi-year revenue stream. Licensing is an effective way for an ecosystem partner to generate customer activity.
Alternatively, a partner may choose to develop software based on our intellectual property generating royalty revenue.

Other Services: We provide ancillary services directly related to the sale of our wireless communications products which include wireless network design, systems
engineering, radio frequency planning, software configuration, product training, installation, and onsite support. Furthermore, we also provide engineering and product
development services to ecosystem partners who are interested in integrating their intelligent equipment with our FullMAX SDR platform and need our expertise to do so.

The Siemens Partnership

In April 2020, we entered into a strategic partnership with Siemens Mobility, a separately managed company of Siemens AG (“Siemens”), to jointly develop
wireless communications products for the North American Rail Industry based on Siemens’ Advanced Train Control System (“ATCS”) protocol and our MC-IoT platform,
for availability in the second half of 2020. These dual-mode ATCS/MC-IoT radio systems will support Siemens’ extensive installed base of ATCS radios as well as offer
Siemens’ customers the ability to support a host of new advanced rail applications utilizing our MC-IoT wireless system. These new applications, including Advanced Grade
Crossing Activation and Monitoring, Wayside Inspection, Railcar Monitoring and support for next generation signaling and train control systems, are designed to increase
railroad productivity, reduce costs and improve safety. The new ATCS-compatible products will be introduced in two phases, including a field-selectable ATCS or MC-IoT
remote radio available in the fourth quarter of 2020. Furthermore, Siemens has begun to market and sell Siemens-branded MC-IoT wireless systems based on our technology
platforms.

The North American Rail Network is vast in scale, consisting of 140,000 miles of track, 25,000 locomotives, and 1.6 million railcars. Within this large footprint, we
believe there are 200,000 highway crossings, with at least 65,000 of the crossings equipped with electronic systems today, a number which is expected to increase in the
coming years. A significant portion of the communications infrastructure has been in operation for more than 20 years and now requires a technological upgrade to support
new applications and increased capacity requirements. Our MC-IoT platform offers an excellent migration path for these applications. The Class I Railroads value the ability
of the Ondas’ frequency-agnostic SDR architecture to enable a substantial capacity increase utilizing the railroad’s existing wireless infrastructure and dedicated Federal
Communications Commission (“FCC”) licensed radio frequencies, as well as the flexibility to adapt to and take advantage of future changes in spectrum availability.

We believe the Siemens partnership validates our wireless connectivity solutions and will accelerate the adoption of our wireless technology in the North American
Class I Railroad market. We believe Siemens has both the sales and marketing reach and support to drive our technology to wide scale acceptance. Siemens also brings Ondas
access to the North American transit market where our technology has broad potential. In addition to our strategic partnership with Siemens Mobility, we expect to establish
additional formal sales and marketing partnerships and OEM relationships with other leading Tier 1 vendors of industrial equipment in 2020.




The Market for Our Products

Our FullMAX system of Software Defined Radios, base stations, fixed and mobile edge radios and supporting technology is designed to enable highly secure and
reliable Industrial-grade connectivity for truly mission-critical applications. We offer a range of products with different options for narrowband and broadband applications.
Our SDR platforms offer unmatched flexibility with respect to the radio frequencies in which they operate (ranging from 70 MHz to 6 GHz) and channel size configurations
(ranging from 12.5 kHz to 10 MHz).

The global end markets for our MC-IoT solutions are established, large, and we believe, poised to grow rapidly given the key role connectivity will play in next
generation IoT-type applications. Firms like Cisco Systems, Inc. and Gartner, Inc. forecast that there will be billions of connected IoT devices installed by year end 2020;
many of which will be deployed for industrial applications. Dell’Oro Group, Inc. estimates that Wide Area IoT spending, including low power WAN deployments with which
we compete, will reach $33.0 billion for carriers and infrastructure vendors by 2022, growing approximately 2.5Xs from 2017. In many of our industrial end markets, we
believe the adoption of low-cost edge computing and increased penetration of “smart machinery” is driving demand for next-generation networks for IoT applications such as
those powered by FullMAX. Demand for edge computing solutions is growing rapidly and adopting edge computing applications can help our customers run their businesses
more efficiently, profitably, and safely. According to MarketsandMarkets the market for global edge computing solutions is expected to grow over 34% per year from $3.6
billion in 2020 to $15.7 billion by 2025. Ondas is leveraging its industry expertise and FullMAX connectivity and Fog-computing platform to develop an enhanced range of
products to capitalize on this expanding opportunity with the goal of becoming the leading supplier of private industrial networks.

According to research firm MarketsandMarkets, worldwide spending on communications by the electric utility sector is estimated to grow over 15% per year and is
expected to reach $15.4 billion annually by 2021. This growth is being driven by distributed and renewable power generation projects and regulatory requirements for secure
and reliable power generation and distribution as the industry deals with aging infrastructure. Market forecasts for oil and gas producers, water and wastewater utilities,
homeland security, transportation and other critical infrastructure segments are similarly large. According to Market Reports World, the global LMR market is expected to
reach $32.2 billion by 2027. In oil and gas, MarketsandMarkets forecasts that spending on oilfield communications will reach $4.5 billion by 2022, which would represent an
annual growth of 7.9% from today. In addition, the U.S. Railroad sector is expected to spend over $10.0 billion in aggregate by 2020 to fully implement Positive Train
Control (“PTC”) safety functions as required by Federal regulations according to the American Association of Railroads. We estimate the addressable market for our
FullMAX solution with the North American Class 1 Railroads is over $1.5 billion. Our innovative, standards-based FullMAX system offers Unmanned Aircraft Systems
(“UAS”) operators and users a high-performing, cost-effective solution for reliable command and control of drones. The end market opportunity for UAS network solutions
is large and rapidly growing. According to analysts at Barclays Capital, spending on commercial drones will rise more than 10-fold over five years from $4 billion to nearly
$43 billion in 2024. The U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) raised its forecast in 2019 and now expects over 450,000 commercial drones flying in the U.S. by
2022, a four-fold increase from 2017. Improvements in drone navigation capability allowing for the safe command and control of industrial UAS beyond visual line of sight
(“BVLOS”) will be a key enabler driving the growth of the UAS market. Industrial UAS applications offer significant value to our core critical infrastructure markets and the
economy at large, which supports the growth outlook for this market. In addition to broad use by government agencies and agriculture markets, utilities, railroads, and oil and
gas industries are actively evaluating, or are in the process of incorporating, the extensive use of drones into their business operations. These critical infrastructure sectors can
realize substantial savings and improved reliability in operations from deploying drones to monitor and inspect their remote infrastructure and assets.

Recent Developments
Reverse Stock Split

On November 3, 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a 1-for-3 reverse stock split of the Company’s authorized and outstanding common stock,
effective November 13, 2020 at 5:31 p.m. Eastern Time (the “Reverse Stock Split”). No fractional shares were issued in connection with the Reverse Stock Split. Any
fractional shares resulting from the Reverse Stock Split were rounded up to the nearest whole share. Immediately after the Reverse Stock Split, the Company had
116,666,667 shares of authorized common stock and 19,796,154 shares of issued and outstanding common stock. The Company’s common stock commenced trading on a

post-split basis on the morning of November 16, 2020.

Historical financial information contained in this prospectus, including the financial statements and accompanying notes, the Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and the Summary Financial Data, have been recast to give effect to the Reverse Stock Split.

Appointment of Director

On November 13, 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company increased the size of the Board of Directors from six to seven members and appointed Randall P.
Seidl as an independent director, effective November 16, 2020.




Risks Related to Our Business

Investing in our common stock involves substantial risk. You should carefully consider all of the information in this prospectus before investing in our common
stock, including the risks related to this offering and our common stock, our business and industry, our intellectual property, our financial results, and our need for
financing, each as described under the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus.

Risks in investing in our common stock include but are not limited to:

e  We have incurred significant operating losses since inception and cannot assure you that we will ever achieve or sustain profitability.

o The IEEE 802.16s wireless broadband standard is newly published and adoption of this standard by customers in our target critical infrastructure sectors is
uncertain.

e  Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic partnerships with third parties such as Siemens Mobility as well as on our ability to establish a broad
range of additional ecosystem relationships with leading global industrial vendors.

e  Any outbreak or worsening of an outbreak of contagious diseases, or other adverse public health developments, could have a material and adverse effect on our
business operations, financial condition and results of operations.

e  We do not control certain aspects of the manufacture of our product, including the supply of key components used to build our products and we also depend on a
limited number of manufacturers.

e  We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service our indebtedness, which currently consists of the secured loans with Steward Capital Holdings, LP

(“Steward Capital”).

If we do not obtain additional capital to fund our growth, operations, and obligations, our growth may be limited.

The Reverse Stock Split may not result in a proportional increase in the per share price of our common stock.

We have limited trading activity and a result, the price of our common stock might fluctuate significantly and you could lose all or part of your investment.

There is a limited market for our securities, which may make it more difficult to dispose of our securities and we may fail to sustain trading on Nasdaq, which

could make it more difficult for investors to sell their shares.

e  We are an “emerging growth company” and, as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to emerging growth companies, our
common stock may be less attractive to investors.

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, as amended, or the JOBS Act. We will remain an emerging
growth company until the earlier of (1) December 31, 2021, (2) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion, (3) the last
day of the fiscal year in which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
Exchange Act, which would occur if the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeded $700.0 million as of the last business day of the second fiscal
quarter of such fiscal year or (4) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities during the prior three-year period. An emerging
growth company may take advantage of specified reduced reporting requirements and is relieved of certain other significant requirements that are otherwise generally
applicable to public companies. As an emerging growth company, we may present only two years of audited financial statements, plus unaudited condensed financial
statements for any interim period, and related management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations in this prospectus;

we may avail ourselves of the exemption from the requirement to obtain an attestation and report from our auditors on the assessment of our internal control over
financial reporting pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Sarbanes-Oxley;

we may provide reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements; and




we may not require stockholder non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements.

In addition, under the JOBS Act, an emerging growth company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply
to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this extended transition period, and, as a result, we will adopt new or revised accounting standards
on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for other public companies.

We are also a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and have elected to take advantage of certain of the scaled disclosure
available to smaller reporting companies.

Corporate History

Ondas Holdings Inc. was originally incorporated in Nevada on December 22, 2014 under the name Zev Ventures Incorporated. On September 28, 2018, we
consummated a reverse acquisition transaction to acquire a privately-held company, Ondas Networks Inc., and changed our name from “Zev Ventures Incorporated” to
“Ondas Holdings Inc.” As a result, Ondas Networks Inc. became our wholly-owned subsidiary. We refer to this transaction as the “Acquisition.” In connection with the
closing of the Acquisition, we discontinued the prior business of Zev Ventures as a reseller of sporting and concert tickets and our sole business became that of Ondas
Networks.

Ondas Networks was originally incorporated in Delaware on February 16, 2006 under the name Full Spectrum Inc. On August 10, 2018, the name was changed to
Ondas Networks Inc.

Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at 165 Gibraltar Court, Sunnyvale, California 94089 and our telephone number is (888) 350-9994. We maintain a website
at www.ondas.com, to which we regularly post copies of our press releases as well as additional information about us. Our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, will be available free of charge through the website as soon as reasonably practicable after being electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC.
Information contained on, or accessible through, our website does not constitute a part of this prospectus or our other filings with the SEC, and you should not consider any
information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website as part of this prospectus or in deciding whether to purchase shares of our common stock.

All brand names or trademarks appearing in this prospectus are the property of their respective holders. Use or display by us of other parties’ trademarks, trade dress,
or products in this prospectus is not intended to, and does not, imply a relationship with, or endorsements or sponsorship of, us by the trademark or trade dress owners.
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Common stock offered by us:

Common stock to be outstanding
after this offering:

Option to purchase additional shares:

Use of proceeds:

Risk factors:

Reverse Stock Split:

Proposed Nasdaq Trading Symbol:

THE OFFERING

5,000,000 shares (or 5,750,000 shares if the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional
shares in full).

25,775,515 shares (or 26,525,515 shares if the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional
shares in full).

The underwriters have an option within 30 days of the date of this prospectus to purchase up to an
additional 750,000 shares of our common stock for the purpose of covering over-allotments.

We estimate that the net proceeds from this offering will be approximately $27,100,000 (or
approximately $31,285,000 if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full), after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and the estimated offering expenses payable by us.

We intend to use the net proceeds of this offering: (1) to continue research and development of future
configurations of our FullMAX platform; (2) to build product inventory and support expected
increased levels of customer sales activity; (3) subject to us receiving gross proceeds of not less than
$20 million in the offering, to repay approximately $5 million of principal and accrued interests under
the Steward Capital Loan and Security Agreement (as defined below), that matures on September 9,
2021; and (4) for other general corporate purposes. See “Use of Proceeds” for additional information.

Investing in our common stock involves substantial risk. You should read the “Risk Factors” section
beginning on page 13 and other information included in this prospectus for a discussion of factors to
consider carefully before deciding to invest in our securities.

On November 3, 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a 1-for-3 reverse stock split
of the Company’s authorized and outstanding common stock, effective November 13, 2020 at 5:31
p.m. Eastern Time. No fractional shares were issued in connection with the Reverse Stock Split. Any
fractional shares resulting from the Reverse Stock Split were rounded up to the nearest whole

share. Immediately after the Reverse Stock Split, the Company had 116,666,667 shares of authorized
common stock and 19,796,154 shares of issued and outstanding common stock. The Company’s
common stock commenced trading on a post-split basis on the morning of November 16, 2020. In
connection with the Reverse Stock Split, the letter “D” was added to the end of our symbol for a period
of 20 business days after November 16, 2020 to indicate the Reverse Stock Split has occurred.

Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQB of OTC Markets Group, Inc. (the “OTCQB”), under the
symbol “ONDSD,” and, to date, has traded on a limited basis. As of December 3, 2020, the last
reported sale price of our common stock on the OTCQB Market was $12.64. Our common stock has
been approved for listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market (the “Nasdaq”) under the symbol “ONDS,”
and will begin trading on Nasdaq on December 4, 2020.

The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on 20,775,515 shares of our common stock outstanding as of December 3,

2020, after giving effect to the assumptions set forth below:

e including 979,361 shares of common stock underlying 2,350,390 shares of the Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding, which preferred
stock will mandatorily convert into common stock in connection with this offering (the “Series A Preferred”);

e cxcluding outstanding warrants to purchase 1,879,785 shares of common stock; and

e excluding 3,333,334 shares of common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to future awards under our 2018 Incentive Stock Plan (the “2018 Plan”), pursuant to
which 1,625,834 shares of common stock underlie currently outstanding options and restricted stock units.

Except as otherwise indicated herein, all information in this prospectus assumes the underwriters do not exercise their option to purchase an additional 750,000

shares of our common stock to cover over-allotments, if any.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables summarize our financial data for the periods presented and should be read together with the sections of this prospectus titled “Risk Factors”
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and our financial statements and related notes thereto appearing elsewhere
in this prospectus. The following summary statements of operations data for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 and the years ended
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 have been derived from our financial statements and footnotes included elsewhere in this prospectus. Our historical results are
not necessarily indicative of our future results or of the results we expect in the future.

Nine months ended Year ended
September 30, December 31,
2020 2019 2019 2018

Revenues, net $ 1,969,598 $ 313,583 $ 320,383 $ 190,029
Cost of sales 1,087,540 71,133 79,126 39,365
Gross profit 882,058 242,450 241,257 150,664
Operating expenses:

General and administrative 5,222,180 3,874,186 4,792,867 2,611,992
Sales and marketing 934,948 4,728,505 5,403,901 2,897,703
Research and development 2,555,223 4,411,266 5,416,425 3,076,502
Total operating expense 8,712,351 13,013,957 15,613,193 8,586,197
Operating loss (7,830,293) (12,771,507) (15,371,936) (8,435,533)
Other income (expense) (1,523,413) (3,356,505) (4,018,196) (3,661,331)
Net loss $ (9,353,706) $  (16,128,012) $  (19,390,132) $  (12,096,864)

The following summary balance sheet data as of September 30, 2020 is presented:

e on an actual basis; and

e onan as adjusted basis to (i) give effect to our sale of 5,000,000 shares of common stock in this offering at the public offering price of $6.00 per share, after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us, and (ii) the repayment of approximately $5 million of
principal and accrued interests under the loan and security agreement with Steward Capital (the “Steward Capital Loan and Security Agreement”), subject to
us receiving gross proceeds of not less than $20 million in this offering.

The summary as adjusted balance sheet is for informational purposes only and does not purport to indicate balance sheet information as of any future date.

September 30,
2020
As
Actual Adjusted
(Unaudited)

Balance Sheet data:

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 2,148,345  $ 24,248,345
Total assets $ 4,815,408 $ 26,915,408
Total liabilities $ 18,560,542  § 13,560,542
Accumulated deficit $  (61,125373) $  (61,125,373)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) $  (13,745,134) $ 13,354,866
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RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before you invest in our common stock, you should carefully consider the following risks, as well as
general economic and business risks, and all of the other information contained in this registration statement. Any of the following risks could harm our business, operating
results and financial condition and cause the trading price of our common stock to decline, which would cause you to lose all or part of your investment. When determining
whether to invest, you should also refer to the other information contained in this prospectus, including our financial statements and the related notes thereto.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have incurred significant operating losses since inception and cannot assure you that we will ever achieve or sustain profitability.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant net losses. As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $61
million and $52 million, respectively. To date, we have financed our operations primarily through sales of our equity securities and debt financings.

We have never been profitable and do not expect to be profitable in the foreseeable future. We expect our expenses to increase significantly as we pursue our growth
strategy. The extent of our future operating losses and the timing of profitability are highly uncertain, and we expect to continue incurring significant expenses and operating
losses over the next several years. Any additional operating losses may have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and the price of our common stock, and we cannot
assure you that we will ever be able to achieve profitability.

Even if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase such profitability. Additionally, our costs may increase in future periods and we may expend
substantial financial and other resources on, among things, sales and marketing, the hiring of additional officers, employees, contractors and other service providers, and general
administration, which may include a significant increase in legal and accounting expenses related to public company compliance, continued compliance and various regulations
applicable to our business or arising from the growth and maturity of our company. Our failure to become and remain profitable would depress the value of our company and
could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our development efforts, obtain regulatory approvals, diversify our product and service offerings or
continue our operations, and may cause the price of our common stock to decline.

The IEEE 802.16s wireless broadband standard is newly published and adoption of this standard by customers in our target critical infrastructure sectors is
uncertain.

The IEEE 802.16s wireless broadband standard was published in October 2017. In addition, we are currently the only manufacturer of IEEE 802.16s compliant
equipment. The benefit of the standard to buyers of our equipment are greater when there exists a large, deep market in terms of the number of customers. A large market
benefits from the scale provided such that many vendors can compete on service, price and quality of solution driving improved value for customers. If a large end market
doesn’t develop and customers don’t see the related benefits from the standard, we may not be able to grow our business.

QOur growth depends in part on the success of our strategic partnerships with third parties such as Siemens Mobility as well as on our ability to establish a broad
range of additional ecosystem relationships with leading global industrial vendors.

In order to grow our business, we depend on partnerships with market leading technology and industrial companies such as Siemens Mobility to accelerate the
adoption of our wireless technology. If we are unsuccessful in maintaining our partnerships with third parties, including Siemens Mobility, or if our partnerships do not provide
us the anticipated benefits, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenue could be impaired and our operating results may suffer. In addition, adoption of our
FullMAX wireless platform requires us to establish additional ecosystem relationships with leading global industrial vendors. Even if we are successful in executing these
partnerships and integrating with additional ecosystem vendors, we cannot assure you that these partnerships and relationships will result in increased adoption of our
technology or increased revenue.




While we have historically worked with electrical utilities, we are currently expanding into new vertical end markets such as water utilities, oil and gas and
transportation, in which we have limited prior operating history. Failure to establish ourselves in these new markets can have a material adverse effect on our business
prospects.

We have historically worked with and geared our product offerings to the requirements of the electrical utilities and other suppliers of electrical power. We have in the
past few years expanded our product design and development efforts to address the needs of other mission critical infrastructures, such as water utilities, oil and gas production
and transportation. Achieving market acceptance in these new markets, of which no assurance can be provided, is critical to our success, and accordingly, failure to establish
ourselves in these new markets may materially adversely affect our business or operating results.

Failure to manage our planned growth could place a significant strain on our resources.

Our ability to successfully implement our business plan requires an effective plan for managing our future growth. We plan to increase the scope of our operations.
Current and future expansion efforts will be expensive and may significantly strain our managerial and other resources and ability to manage working capital. To manage future
growth effectively, we must manage expanded operations, integrate new personnel and maintain and enhance our financial and accounting systems and controls. If we do not
manage growth properly, it could harm our business, financial condition or results of operations and make it difficult for us to satisfy our debt obligations.

We may be unsuccessful in achieving our organic growth strategies, which could limit our revenue growth or financial performance. Our ability to generate organic
growth will be affected by our ability to, among other things:

attract new customers;

increase the number of products purchased from customers;

maintain profitable gross margins in the sale and maintenance of our products;

increase the number of projects performed for existing customers;

achieve the estimated revenue we announced from new customer contracts;

hire and retain qualified employees;

expand the range of our products and services we offer to customers to address their evolving network needs;

expand geographically, including internationally; and

address the challenges presented by difficult and unpredictable global and regional economic or market conditions that may affect us or our customers.

Many of the factors affecting our ability to generate organic growth may be beyond our control, and we cannot be certain that our strategies for achieving internal
growth will be attempted, realized or successful.

If we fail to retain our existing customers or do not acquire new customers in a cost-effective manner, our revenue may decrease and our business, financial
condition or results of operations may be harmed.

We believe that our success is dependent on our ability to continue identifying and anticipating the needs of our customers, to retain our existing customers and to add
new customers. For example, we launched a business expansion plan in 2018 to leverage our FullMAX platform and penetrate the large, critical infrastructure end markets we
target and grew our dedicated sales resources to broaden our marketing efforts into new industries and sectors. As a result, we have significantly increased customer engagement
in the transportation, oil and gas, security and UAS end markets, and we expect that our qualified customer pipeline will increase throughout 2020 and beyond. However, as we
become larger through organic growth, the growth rates for customer engagement, project volume and average spend per customer may slow, even if we continue to add
customers on an absolute basis. In addition, the costs associated with customer retention may be substantially lower than costs associated with the acquisition of new customers.
Therefore, our failure to retain existing customers, even if such losses are offset by an increase in revenue resulting from the acquisition of new customers, could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Additionally, while a key part of our business strategy is to add customers in our existing geographic markets, we may expand our operations into new geographic
markets. In doing so, we may incur losses or otherwise fail to enter new markets successfully. Our expansion into new markets may place us in unfamiliar and competitive
environments and involve various risks, including the need to invest significant resources and the possibility that returns on such investments will not be achieved for several
years or at all.

Any outbreak or worsening of an outbreak of contagious diseases, or other adverse public health developments, could have a material and adverse effect on our
business operations, financial condition and results of operations.

Any outbreak or worsening of an outbreak of contagious diseases, or other adverse public health developments, could have a material and adverse effect on our
business operations, financial condition and results of operations. For example, in December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (“COVID-19) was identified in Wuhan,
China, and has subsequently spread to other regions of the world, and has resulted in increased travel restrictions, business disruptions and emergency quarantine measures
across the world including the United States. The Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations were impacted from the COVID-19 pandemic during the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 as follows:

e Sales and marketing efforts were disrupted as our business development team was unable to travel to visit customers and customers were unable to receive visitors
for on-location meetings;
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e  Field activity for testing and deploying our wireless systems was delayed due to the inability for our field service team to install and test equipment for our
customers;

e  Supply chain disruptions led to component shortages and inefficiencies in and delays in producing and delivering equipment for certain purchase orders; and

e Delays in fulfilling purchase orders reduced our cash flow from operations.

In the first quarter of 2020, we reduced our business activity to critical operations only, and furloughed 80% of our workforce. Per orders issued by the Health Officer
of the County of Santa Clara, our corporate headquarters were closed, except for functions related to the support of remote workers and product support related to the essential
transportation sector. On May 13, 2020, we reopened our corporate headquarters and as of September 30, 2020 we have no employees remaining on furlough. Of the 18
employees previously furloughed, 14 are currently employed by us.

Additionally, on March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was enacted. The CARES Act is an approximately $2
trillion emergency economic stimulus package in response to the COVID-19 outbreak, which among other things contains numerous income tax provisions. Some of these tax
provisions are expected to be effective retroactively for years ending before the date of enactment. The Company applied for, and received, funds under the Paycheck Protection
Program after the period end in the approximate amount of $666,000. The application for these funds requires the Company to, in good faith, certify that the current economic
uncertainty made the loan request necessary to support operations of the Company.

The Company expects its business, financial condition and results of operations will be impacted from the COVID-19 pandemic for the remainder of 2020 primarily
due to the deferral of customer activity from the first half of the year. Further, the COVID-19 pandemic is ongoing and remains an unknown risk for the foreseeable future. The
extent to which the coronavirus may impact our business will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information
which may emerge concerning the severity of the coronavirus. As a result, the Company is unable to reasonably estimate the full extent of the impact from the COVID-19
pandemic on its future business, financial condition and results of operations. The Company may also be unable to comply with the financial and other material covenants under
its debt agreements and may not be able to negotiate waivers or amendments to such debt agreements in order to maintain ongoing compliance. In addition, if the Company
were to experience any new impact to its operations, or incur additional unanticipated costs and expenses as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, such operational delays and
unanticipated costs and expenses there could be a further adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations in 2020 and 2021.

We have significant dependence on a small number of customers, and the loss of such customers or a decrease in business conducted with such customers could
materially harm our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Because we have only recently invested in our customer service and support organization, a small number of customers have accounted for a substantial amount of our
revenue. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, two customers accounted for approximately $993,000 and $866,000 of our revenue, or approximately 98%. During
the year ended December 31, 2019, three customers accounted for approximately $144,000, $115,000 and $56,000 of our revenue, or approximately 45%, 36% and 18%,
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2018, two customers accounted for approximately $145,000 and $32,000 of our revenue or 76% and 17%, respectively. No
other customers provided more than 10% of our revenue during the nine months ended September 30, 2020, or the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. The loss of these
customers or a decrease in the business conducted with such customers could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Project performance delays or difficulties, including those caused by third parties, or certain contractual obligations may result in additional costs to us,
reductions in revenues or the payment of liquidated damages.

Many projects involve challenging engineering, construction or installation phases that may occur over extended time periods. We may encounter difficulties as a
result of delays or changes in designs, engineering information or materials provided by our customer or a third party, delays or difficulties in equipment and material delivery,
schedule changes, delays from our customer’s failure to timely obtain permits or meet other regulatory requirements, weather-related delays and other factors, many of which
are beyond our control, that impact our ability to complete the project in accordance with the original delivery schedule. In addition, we contract with third-party subcontractors
to assist us with the completion of contracts. Any delay or failure by suppliers or by subcontractors in the completion of their portion of the project may be beyond our control
and may result in delays in the overall progress of the project or may cause us to incur additional costs, or both. Delays and additional costs may be substantial and, in some
cases, we may be required to compensate the customer for such delays. Delays may also disrupt the final completion of our contracts as well as the corresponding recognition of
revenues and expenses therefrom. In certain circumstances, we guarantee project completion by a scheduled acceptance date or achievement of certain acceptance and
performance testing levels; failure to meet any of our guarantees, schedules or performance requirements could also result in additional costs or penalties to us, including
obligations to pay liquidated damages, and such amounts could exceed expected project profit. In extreme cases, the above-mentioned factors could cause project cancellations,
and we may be unable to replace such projects with similar projects or at all. Such delays or cancellations may impact our reputation, brand or relationships with customers,
adversely affecting our ability to secure new contracts.
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QOur contractors may fail to satisfy their obligations to us or other parties, or we may be unable to maintain these relationships, either of which may have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on third party contractors to complete manufacturing, certain research and development and deployment functions. There is a risk that we may have
disputes with contractors arising from, among other things, the quality and timeliness of work performed by the contractor, customer concerns about the contractor or our failure
to extend existing task orders or issue new task orders. In addition, if any of our contractors fail to deliver on a timely basis the agreed-upon supplies and/or perform the agreed-
upon services, then our ability to fulfill our obligations may be jeopardized. In addition, the absence of qualified contractors with whom we have a satisfactory relationship
could adversely affect the quality of our service and our ability to perform under some of our contracts. Any of these factors may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

1,

Material delays or defaults in customer payments could leave us unable to cover expenditures r
subcontractors.

d to such cu er’s projects, including the payment of our

Because of the nature of most of our contracts, we commit resources to projects prior to receiving payments from our customers in amounts sufficient to cover
expenditures as they are incurred. In certain cases, these expenditures include paying our contractors and purchasing parts. If a customer defaults in making its payments on a
project or projects to which we have devoted significant resources, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Certain of our officers, employees, contractors and other service providers may work on projects that are inherently dangerous, and a failure to maintain a safe
worksite could result in significant losses.

Certain of our project sites can place our officers, employees, contractors and other service providers and others, including third parties, in difficult or dangerous
environments, and may involve difficult and hard to reach terrain, high elevation, or locations near large or complex equipment, moving vehicles, high voltage or other safety
hazards or dangerous processes. Safety is a primary focus of our business and maintaining a good reputation for safety is critical to our business. Many of our customers require
that we meet certain safety criteria to be eligible to bid on contracts. We maintain programs with the primary purpose of implementing effective health, safety and environmental
procedures throughout our company. Maintaining such programs involves variable costs which may increase as governmental, regulatory and industry safety standards evolve,
and any increase in such costs may materially affect or business, financial condition or results of operations. Further, if we fail to implement appropriate safety procedures or if
our procedures fail, our officers, employees, contractors and other service providers, including third parties, may suffer injuries. Failure to comply with such procedures, client
contracts or applicable regulations, or the occurrence of such injuries, could subject us to material losses and liability and may adversely impact our ability to obtain projects in
the future or to hire and retain talented officers, employees, contractors and other services providers, therefore materially adversely affecting our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

Warranty claims resulting from our services could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
We generally warrant our manufactured products, including hardware and software, for a period of one year from the date of receipt of the product by the customer.
After the first year, the customer can pay for extended hardware warranty and software maintenance and upgrades on an annual basis in advance. While costs that we have

incurred historically under our warranty obligations have not been material, the costs associated with such warranties, including any warranty related legal proceedings, are
variable and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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We rely on our management team and need additional personnel to grow our business, and the loss of one or more key officers, employees, contractors and other
service providers or our inability to attract and retain qualified personnel could harm our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We depend, in part, on the performance of Eric Brock, our Chief Executive Officer, Stewart Kantor, our Chief Financial Officer, Thomas Bushey, our President, and
Menashe Shahar, the Chief Technology Officer of Ondas Networks, to operate and grow our business. The loss of any of Messrs. Brock, Kantor, Bushey or Shahar could
negatively impact our ability to execute our business strategies. Although we have entered into employment agreements with Messrs. Brock, Kantor, Bushey and Shahar, we
may be unable to retain them or replace any of them if we lose their services for any reason.

Our future success will also depend on our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled management, product development, operations, sales, technical and
other personnel in the United States and abroad. Even in today’s economic climate, competition for these types of personnel is intense, particularly in the Silicon Valley, where
our headquarters are located. All of our employees, contractors and other service providers in the United States work for us on an at-will basis. Given the lengthy sales cycles
with utilities and deployment periods of our networking platform and solutions, the loss of key personnel at any time could adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

Our products are subject to a lengthy sales cycle and our customers may cancel or change their product plans after we have expended substantial time and
resources in the design of their products.

Many of our customers are conservative in their decision-making process. Sales cycles for new customers can vary from one to three years depending on the
complexity of the customer’s network, whether the customer is subject to state regulations, and annual budget cycles. During this lengthy sales cycle, our potential customers
may cancel or change their product plans. Customers may also discontinue products incorporating our devices at any time or they may choose to replace our products with
lower cost semiconductors. In addition, we are working with leading customers in our target markets to define our future products. If customers cancel, reduce or delay product
orders from us, or choose not to release products that incorporate our devices after we have spent substantial time and resources developing products or assisting customers with
their product design, our revenue levels may be less than anticipated and our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

QOur ability to provide bid bonds, performance bonds or letters of credit is limited and could negatively affect our ability to bid on or enter into significant long-term
agreements.

We have in the past been, and may in the future be, required to provide bid bonds or performance bonds to secure our performance under customer contracts or, in
some cases, as a pre-requisite to submit a bid on a potential project. Our ability to obtain such bonds primarily depends upon our capitalization, working capital, past
performance, management expertise, reputation, brand and external factors beyond our control, including the overall capacity of the surety market and general and regional
economic and regulatory conditions. Surety companies consider those factors in relation to the amount of our tangible net worth and other underwriting standards that may
change from time to time. Surety companies may require that we collateralize a percentage of the bond with our cash or other form of credit enhancement. Events that affect
surety markets generally may result in bonding becoming more difficult to obtain in the future, or being available only at a significantly greater cost. In addition, some of our
utility customers also require collateral guarantees in the form of letters of credit to secure performance or to fund possible damages as the result of an event of default under our
contracts with them. If we enter into significant long-term agreements that require the issuance of letters of credit, our liquidity could be negatively impacted. Our inability to
obtain adequate bonding or letters of credit and, as a result, to bid or enter into significant long-term agreements, could have a material adverse effect on our future revenues and
business prospects.

Substantially all our current products depend on the availability and are subject to the use of licensed radio frequencies regulated by the FCC in the United States.

Substantially all of our current hardware products are designed to communicate wirelessly via licensed radio frequencies and therefore depend on the availability of
adequate radio spectrum in order to operate. It is possible that the FCC or the U.S. Congress could adopt additional regulations or policies which are, or may change or modify
current regulations or policies so that they are, harmful to our business or incompatible with our current or future product offerings, as well as products currently installed in the
field. Additional regulations or policies or changes or modifications to current regulations or policies may require modification or replacement of our products, including
products currently installed in the field, at significant, or even prohibitive, cost to us, and may require changes or modifications to, or termination of, ongoing or planned
projects. Any of these developments could materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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Our marketing efforts depend significantly on our ability to receive positive references from our existing customers.

Our marketing efforts depend significantly on our ability to call on our current and past customers to provide positive references to new, potential customers. A
material portion of our current pipeline activity is concentrated in the transportation and aviation sectors. Given our limited number of customers, the loss or dissatisfaction of
any customer could substantially harm our brand and reputation, inhibit the market acceptance of our products and services, and impair our ability to attract new customers and
maintain existing customers. Further, as we expand into new vertical and geographic end markets, references from existing customers could be similarly important. Any of these
consequences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If our products contain defects or otherwise fail to perform as expected, we could be liable for damages and incur unanticipated warranty, recall and other related
expenses, our reputation could be damaged, we could lose market share and, as a result, our financial condition or results of operations could suffer.

Our products are complex and may contain defects or experience failures due to any number of issues in design, materials, manufacture, deployment and/or use. If any
of our products contain a defect, compatibility or interoperability issue or other error, we may have to devote significant time and resources to find and correct the issue. Such
efforts could divert the attention of our management team and other relevant personnel from other important tasks. A product recall or a significant number of product returns
could: be expensive; damage our reputation and relationships with utilities and other third-party vendors; result in the loss of business to competitors; and result in litigation
against us. Costs associated with field replacement labor, hardware replacement, re-integration with third-party products, handling charges, correcting defects, errors and bugs,
or other issues could be significant and could materially harm our financial results.

Estimated future product warranty claims are based on the expected number of field failures over the warranty commitment period, the term of the product warranty
period, and the costs for repair, replacement and other associated costs. Our warranty obligations are affected by product failure rates, claims levels, material usage and product
re-integration and handling costs.

Because our products are relatively new and we do not yet have the benefit of long-term experience observing products’ performance in the field, our estimates of a
product’s lifespan and incidence of claims may be inaccurate. Should actual product failure rates, claims levels, material usage, product re-integration and handling costs,
defects, errors, bugs or other issues differ from the original estimates, we could end up incurring materially higher warranty or recall expenses than we anticipate.

To date we have eliminated or limited the extent of liquidated damages and/or consequential losses from our agreements with customers. It is possible that we may not

be able to achieve this in the future which could expose us to significant liabilities.
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Our technology, products and services have only been developed in the last several years and we have had only limited opportunities to deploy and assess their
performance in the field at full scale.

The current generation of our radio hardware and software has only been developed in the last several years and is continuing to evolve. Deploying and operating our
technology is a complex endeavor and, until recently, had been done primarily by a small number of customers and primarily in the electric utility industry. As the size,
complexity and scope of our deployments grow we have been able to test product performance at a greater scale and in a variety of new geographic settings and environmental
conditions. As the number, size and complexity of our deployments grow and we deploy FullMAX systems for new applications in new critical infrastructure industries, we may
encounter unforeseen operational, technical and other challenges, some of which could cause significant delays, trigger contractual penalties, result in unanticipated expenses,
and/or damage to our reputation, each of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to respond to evolving technological changes, our products and services could become obsolete or less competitive.

Our industry is highly competitive and characterized by new and rapidly evolving technologies, standards, regulations, customer requirements, as well as frequent
product introductions and revisions. Accordingly, our operating results depend upon our ability to develop and introduce new products and services, our ability to reduce
production costs of our existing products. The process of developing new technologies and products is complex, and if we are unable to develop enhancements to, and new
features for, our existing products and services or acceptable new products and services that keep pace with technological developments or industry standards, our products may
become obsolete, less marketable and less competitive and our business, financial condition or results of operations could be significantly harmed.

We depend on our ability to develop new products and to enhance and sustain the quality of existing products.

Our growth and future success will depend, in part, on our ability to continue to design and manufacture new competitive products and to enhance and sustain the
quality and marketability of our existing products. As such, we have made, and expect to continue to make, substantial investments in technology development. In the future, we
may not have the necessary capital, or access to capital on acceptable terms, to fund necessary levels of research and development. Even with adequate capital resources, we
may nonetheless experience unforeseen problems in the development or performance of our technologies or products. In addition, we may not meet our product development
schedules and, even if we do, we may not develop new products fast enough to provide sufficient differentiation from our competitors’ products, which may be more
successful.

We and our customers operate in a highly regulated business environment and changes in regulation could impose costs on us or make our products less
economical.

Our products and services and our utility customers are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations. Laws and regulations applicable to us and our
products govern, among other things, the manner in which our products communicate, and the environmental impact and electrical reliability of our products. Additionally, our
critical infrastructure customers are often regulated by national, state and/or local bodies, including public utility commissions, the Department of Energy, the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission, the FCC, Federal Rail Association and other bodies. Prospective customers may be required to gain approval from any or all of these organizations
prior to implementing our products and services, including specific permissions related to the cost recovery of these systems. Regulatory agencies may impose special
requirements for implementation and operation of our products. We may incur material costs or liabilities in complying with government regulations applicable to us or our
utility customers. In addition, potentially significant expenditures could be required in order to comply with evolving regulations and requirements that may be adopted or
imposed on us or our utility customers in the future. Such costs could make our products less economical and could impact our utility customers” willingness to adopt our
products, which could materially and adversely affect our revenue, results of operations and financial condition.

Furthermore, changes in the underlying regulatory conditions that affect critical infrastructure industries could have a potentially adverse effect on our customers’
interest or ability to implement our technologies. Many regulatory jurisdictions have implemented rules that provide financial incentives for the implementation of energy
efficiency and demand response technologies, often by providing rebates or through the restructuring of utility rates. If these programs were to cease, or if they were restructured
in a manner inconsistent with the capabilities enabled by our products and services, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be significantly harmed.
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If our products do not interoperate with our cu. s’ other sy. , the purchase or deployment of our products and services may be delayed or cancelled.

Our products are designed to interface with our customers’ other systems, each of which may have different specifications and utilize multiple protocol standards and
products from other vendors. Our products will be required to interoperate with many or all of these products as well as future products in order to meet our customers’
requirements. If we find errors in the existing software or defects in the hardware used in our customers’ systems, we may need to modify our products or services to fix or
overcome these errors so that our products will interoperate with the existing software and hardware, which could be costly and negatively affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations. In addition, if our products and services do not interoperate with our customers’ systems, customers may seek to hold us liable, demand for
our products could be adversely affected or orders for our products could be delayed or cancelled. This could hurt our operating results, damage our reputation or brand, and
seriously harm our prospects, business, financial condition or results of operations.

Cyberattacks through security vulnerabilities could lead to disruption of business, reduced revenue, increased costs, liability claims, or harm to our reputation or
competitive position.

Security vulnerabilities may arise from our hardware, software, employees, contractors or policies we have deployed, which may result in external parties gaining
access to our networks, datacenters, cloud datacenters, corporate computers, manufacturing systems, and or access to accounts we have at our suppliers, vendors, and customers.
They may gain access to our data or our users’ or customers’ data, or attack the networks causing denial of service or attempt to hold our data or systems in ransom. The
vulnerability could be caused by inadequate account security practices such as failure to timely remove employee access when terminated. To mitigate these security issues, we
have implemented measures throughout our organization, including firewalls, backups, encryption, employee information technology policies and user account policies.
However, there can be no assurance these measures will be sufficient to avoid cyberattacks. If any of these types of security breaches were to occur and we were unable to
protect sensitive data, our relationships with our business partners and customers could be materially damaged, our reputation could be materially harmed, and we could be
exposed to a risk of litigation and possible significant liability.

Further, if we fail to adequately maintain our infrastructure, we may have outages and data loss. Excessive outages may affect our ability to timely and efficiently
deliver products to customers or develop new products and solutions. Such disruptions and data loss may adversely impact our ability to fulfill orders, patent our intellectual
property or protect our source code, and interrupt other processes. Delayed sales or lost customers resulting from these disruptions could adversely affect our financial results,
stock price and reputation.

Unauthorized use or disclosure of, or access to, any personal information maintained by us or on our behalf, whether through breach of our systems, breach of the
systems of our suppliers or vendors by an unauthorized party, or through employee or contractor error, theft or misuse, or otherwise, could harm our business. If any such
unauthorized use or disclosure of, or access to, such personal information was to occur, our operations could be seriously disrupted, and we could be subject to demands, claims
and litigation by private parties, and investigations, related actions, and penalties by regulatory authorities. In addition, we could incur significant costs in notifying affected
persons and entities and otherwise complying with the multitude of foreign, federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the unauthorized access to, or use or
disclosure of, personal information. Finally, any perceived or actual unauthorized access to, or use or disclosure of, such information could harm our reputation, substantially
impair our ability to attract and retain customers and have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We do not control certain aspects of the manufacture of our product, including the supply of key components used to build our products and we also depend on a
limited number of manufacturers.

Our future success will depend significantly on the availability of key components, and our ability to manufacture our products timely and cost-effectively, in sufficient
volumes, and in accordance with quality standards. Our reliance on a small number of manufacturers reduces our control over the manufacturing process, exposing us to risks,
including reduced control over quality assurance, product costs and product supply including delays in transportation and delivery. Any manufacturing disruption by our usual
manufacturers could impair our ability to fulfill orders. We may be unable to manage our relationships with our usual manufacturers effectively as they may experience delays,
disruptions, capacity constraints or quality control problems in their manufacturing operations or otherwise fail to meet our future requirements for timely delivery. Similarly, to
the extent that our usual manufacturers procure materials on our behalf, we may not benefit from any warranties received by our usual manufacturers from the suppliers or
otherwise have recourse against the original supplier of the materials or even the manufacturer. In such circumstances, if the original supplier were to provide us or our usual
manufacturers with faulty materials, we might not be able to recover the costs of such materials or be compensated for any damages that arise as a result of the inclusion of the
faulty components in our products.
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One or more of our usual manufacturers may suffer an interruption in its business, or experience delays, disruptions or quality control problems in its manufacturing
operations, or seek to terminate its relationship with us, or we may choose to change or add additional manufacturers for other reasons. Additionally, we do not have long-term
supply agreements with our usual manufacturers. As a result, we may be unable to renew or extend our agreement on terms favorable to us, if at all. Although the manufacturing
services required to manufacture and assemble our products may be readily available from a number of established manufacturers, it may be risky, time consuming and costly to
qualify and implement new manufacturer relationships.

Any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may seek to grow our business through acquisitions of compl 'y companies, products, services or technologies, and the failure to manage acquisitions,
or the failure to integrate them with our existing business, could harm our business, financial condition and operating results.

From time to time, we may consider opportunities to acquire other companies, products, services or technologies that may enhance our product platform or technology,
expand the breadth of our markets or customer base, or advance our business strategies. Potential acquisitions involve numerous risks, including:

problems assimilating the acquired companies, products, services or technologies;

issues maintaining uniform standards, procedures, controls and policies;

unanticipated costs associated with acquisitions;

diversion of management’s attention from our existing business;

risks associated with entering new markets in which we have limited or no experience;

increased legal and accounting costs relating to the acquisitions or compliance with regulatory matters; and
unanticipated or undisclosed liabilities of any target.

We have no current commitments with respect to any acquisition. We do not know if we will be able to identify acquisitions we deem suitable, whether we will be able
to successfully complete any such acquisitions on favorable terms or at all, or whether we will be able to successfully integrate any acquired companies, products, services or
technologies. Our potential inability to identify and complete such acquisitions or integrate any acquired products or technologies effectively may adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

Litigation may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

From time to time in the normal course of our business operations, we may become subject to litigation that may result in liability material to our financial condition as
a whole or may negatively affect our operating results if changes to our business operations are required. The cost to defend such litigation may be significant and may require a
significant diversion of our resources, and there is no guarantee that we will be able to successfully defend against any such litigation regardless of particular merits. There also
may be adverse publicity associated with litigation that could negatively affect customer perception of our business, regardless of whether the allegations are valid or whether
we are ultimately found liable. Insurance may not be available on favorable terms, at all, or in sufficient amounts to cover any liabilities with respect to these or other matters. A
judgment or other liability in excess of our insurance coverage for any claims could adversely affect our business, financial condition and the results of our operations.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property
Our ability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology is uncertain.

We rely primarily on patent, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements, to protect our proprietary technologies and
intellectual property. As of this filing, we held a total of six issued patents in the U.S., seven patent pending applications in the U.S., and one international pending patent
application. Our patents expire between 2030 and 2037, subject to any patent extensions that may be available for such patents.

We have applied for patent protection relating to certain existing and proposed products and processes. Currently, several of our issued U.S. patents as well as various
pending U.S. and foreign patent applications relate to our FullMAX systems, and are therefore important to the functionality of our products. If we fail to timely file a patent
application in any jurisdiction, we may be precluded from doing so at a later date. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that any of our patent applications will be approved in a
timely manner or at all. The rights granted to us under our patents, and the rights we are seeking to have granted in our pending patent applications, may not be meaningful or
provide us with any commercial advantage. In addition, those rights could be opposed, contested or circumvented by our competitors, or be declared invalid or unenforceable in
judicial or administrative proceedings. The failure of our patents to adequately protect our technology might make it easier or cheaper for our competitors to offer the same or
similar products or technologies. Even if we are successful in receiving patent protection for certain products and processes, our competitors may be able to design around our
patents or develop products that provide outcomes which are comparable or superior to ours without infringing on our intellectual property rights. Due to differences between
foreign and U.S. patent laws, our patented intellectual property rights may not receive the same degree of protection in foreign countries as they would in the United States.
Even if patents are granted outside the U.S., effective enforcement in those countries may not be available without significant cost and time expense or at all.

21




We rely on our trademarks and trade names to distinguish our products from the products of our competitors. Third-parties may challenge our use of the trademarks. In
the event that our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products, which could result in loss of brand recognition, and could require us to
devote additional resources to marketing new brands. Further, we cannot assure you that competitors will not infringe upon our trademarks, or that we will have adequate
resources to enforce our trademarks.

We also rely on trade secrets, know-how and technology, which are not protectable by patents, to maintain our competitive position. We try to protect this information
by entering into confidentiality agreements and intellectual property assignment agreements with our officers, employees, contractors and other service providers regarding our
intellectual property and proprietary technology. In the event of unauthorized use or disclosure or other breaches of those agreements, we may not be provided with meaningful
protection for our trade secrets or other proprietary information. In addition, our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors. To
the extent that our commercial partners, collaborators, officers, employees, contractors and other service providers use intellectual property owned by others in their work for
us, disputes may arise as to the rights in the related or resulting know-how and inventions. If any of our trade secrets, know-how or other technologies not protected by a patent
were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a competitor, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

If a competitor infringes upon one of our patents, trademarks or other intellectual property rights, enforcing those patents, trademarks and other rights may be costly,
difficult and time consuming. Patent law relating to the scope of claims in the industry in which we operate is subject to rapid change and constant evolution and, consequently,
patent positions in our industry can be uncertain. Even if successful, litigation to defend our patents and trademarks against challenges or to enforce our intellectual property
rights could be expensive and time consuming and could divert management’s attention from managing our business. Moreover, we may not have sufficient resources or desire
to defend our patents or trademarks against challenges or to enforce our intellectual property rights. Litigation also puts our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted
narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing. Additionally, we may provoke third-parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we
initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially valuable. The occurrence of any of these events may harm our business, financial
condition and operating results.

QOur business may suffer if it is alleged or found that our products infiinge the intellectual property rights of others.

Our industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and by litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual
property rights. Moreover, in recent years, individuals and groups have purchased patents and other intellectual property assets for the purpose of making claims of infringement
in order to extract settlements from companies like ours. To date we have received no claims with respect to our infringement of intellectual property or patents but, in the
future, third parties may claim that we are infringing upon their patents or other intellectual property rights. In addition, we may be or may become contractually obligated to
indemnify our utility customers or other third parties that use or resell our products in the event our products are alleged to infringe a third-party’s intellectual property rights.
Responding to such claims, regardless of their merit, can be time consuming, costly to defend in litigation, divert management’s attention and resources, damage our reputation
and brand, and cause us to incur significant expenses. Even if we are indemnified against such costs, the indemnifying party may be unable to uphold its contractual obligations.
Further, claims of intellectual property infringement might require us to redesign affected products, delay affected product offerings, enter into costly settlement or license
agreements or pay costly damage awards or face a temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting us from marketing, selling or distributing the affected products. If we cannot
or do not license the alleged infringed technology on reasonable terms or at all, or substitute similar technology from another source, our revenue and earnings could be
adversely impacted. Additionally, our utility customers may not purchase our products if they are concerned that our products infringe third-party intellectual property rights.
This could reduce the market opportunity for the sale of our products and services. The occurrence of any of these events may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our proprietary information, the value of our technology and products could be adversely affected.

In addition to patented technology, we rely on our unpatented technology, trade secrets and know-how. We generally seek to protect this information by confidentiality,
non-disclosure and assignment of invention agreements with our officers, employees, contractors and other service providers and with parties with which we do business. These
agreements may be breached, which breach may result in the misappropriation of such information, and we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach. We cannot be
certain that the steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use or reverse engineering of our technology.

Moreover, our trade secrets may be disclosed to or otherwise become known or be independently developed by competitors. To the extent that our officers,
employees, contractors, other service providers, or other third parties with whom we do business use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us, disputes may
arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions. If, for any of the above reasons, our intellectual property is disclosed or misappropriated, it would harm
our ability to protect our rights and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We use open source software in our products and services that may subject our products and services to general release or require us to re-engineer our products
and services, which may cause harm to our business.

We use open source software in connection with our products and services. From time to time, companies that incorporate open source software into their products
have faced claims challenging the ownership of open source software and/or compliance with open source license terms. Therefore, we could be subject to suits by parties
claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source software or noncompliance with open source licensing terms. Some open source software licenses require users who
distribute open source software as part of their software to publicly disclose all or part of the source code to such software and/or make available any derivative works of the
open source code on unfavorable terms or at no cost. While we monitor the use of open source software in our products and services and try to ensure that none is used in a
manner that would require us to disclose the source code to the related product or that would otherwise breach the terms of an open source agreement, such use could
inadvertently occur and we may be required to release our proprietary source code, pay damages for breach of contract, re-engineer our products, discontinue the sale of our
products in the event re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a timely basis or take other remedial action that may divert resources away from our development efforts, any
of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats to our competitive advantage.

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations, and may not adequately
protect our business, or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. The following examples are illustrative:

others may be able to make devices that are the same as or similar to our remote radios but that are not covered by the claims of the patents that we own;

we or any collaborators might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patents or pending patent applications that we own;

we might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our inventions;

others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our intellectual property rights;

it is possible that our pending patent applications will not lead to issued patents;

issued patents that we own may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be held invalid or unenforceable as a result of legal challenges;

our competitors might conduct research and development activities in the U.S. and other countries that provide a safe harbor from patent infringement claims for
certain research and development activities, as well as in countries where we do not have patent rights, and then use the information learned from such activities to
develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets; and

e we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable.
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Risks Related to our Financial Results and Need for Financing
We will need to generate significant sales to achieve profitable operations.

We intend to increase our operating expenses substantially in connection with the planned expansion of our business, establishment of our sales and marketing
infrastructure, our ongoing research and development activities, and the commensurate development of our management and administrative functions, but there is no guarantee
that we will succeed in these endeavors. We will need to generate significant sales to achieve profitability, and we might not be able to do so. Even if we do generate significant
sales, we might not be able to achieve, sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. If our sales grow more slowly than we expect, or if our
operating expenses exceed our expectations, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service our indebtedness, which currently consists of the secured loans with Steward Capital.

We currently have issued secured notes to Steward Capital in the aggregate principal amount of approximately $11.3 million, pursuant to term loans under a Loan and
Security Agreement, as amended, that mature September 9, 2021, or the Steward Capital Loan and Security Agreement. At September 30, 2020, the accrued interest on the
secured loans was approximately $73,000. In addition, we must pay $550,000 to Steward Capital at maturity for end-of-loan and loan extension fees. Our obligations under the
Steward Capital Loan and Security Agreement are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of our assets. The Steward Capital Loan and Security
Agreement also contains certain restrictive covenants that limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness and liens, merge with other companies or consummate certain
changes of control, acquire other companies, engage in new lines of business, make certain investments, pay dividends, transfer or dispose of assets, amend certain material
agreements or enter into various specified transactions, as well as financial reporting requirements. We were in compliance with the affirmative and restrictive covenants as of
December 31, 2019, September 30, 2020, and as of the date of this filing. We may also enter into other debt agreements in the future which may contain similar or more
restrictive terms.

Our ability to make the scheduled payment to Steward Capital depends on numerous factors, including the amount of our cash reserves and our actual and projected
financial and operating performance. These amounts and our performance are subject to certain financial and business factors, as well as prevailing economic and competitive
conditions, some of which may be beyond our control. We cannot assure you that we will maintain a level of cash reserves or cash flows from operating activities sufficient to
permit us to pay the Steward Capital secured loans when due. If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligation to Steward Capital, we
may be forced sell assets or operations, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. We cannot assure you that we would be able to take any of these
actions, or that these actions would permit us to meet our scheduled obligation to Steward Capital. Failure to comply with the conditions of the Steward Capital Loan and
Security Agreement could result in an event of default, which could result in an acceleration of amounts due under the Steward Capital Loan and Security Agreement. We may
not have sufficient funds or may be unable to arrange for additional financing to repay our indebtedness and Steward Capital could seek to enforce security interests in the
collateral securing such indebtedness, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

If we do not obtain additional capital to fund our growth, operations, and obligations, our growth may be limited.

We will require additional capital to fund our growth, operations, and obligations. As our business has grown, we have managed periods of tight liquidity by accessing
capital from our stockholders and their affiliates. Our capital requirements will depend on several factors, including:

our ability to enter into new agreements with customers or to extend the terms of our existing agreements with customers, and the terms of such agreements;
the success of our sales efforts;

our working capital requirements related to the costs of inventory and accounts receivable;

costs of recruiting and retaining qualified personnel;

expenditures and investments to implement our business strategy; and

the identification and successful completion of acquisitions.

We may seek additional funds through equity or debt offerings and/or borrowings under additional notes payable, lines of credit or other sources. We do not know
whether additional financing will be available on commercially acceptable terms or at all, when needed. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on commercially
acceptable terms, our ability to fund our operations, support the growth of our business or otherwise respond to competitive pressures could be significantly delayed or limited,
which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

24




QOur revenue is not predictable and recognition of a significant portion of it will be deferred into future periods.

Once a customer decides to move forward with a large-scale deployment of our products and services, the timing of and our ability to recognize related revenue will
depend on several factors, some of which may not be under our control. These factors include shipment schedules that may be delayed or subject to modification, the rate at
which our utility customers choose to deploy our products in their network, customer acceptance of all or any part of our products and services, our contractual commitments to
provide new or enhanced functionality at some point in the future, other contractual provisions such as liquidated damages, our suppliers’ ability to provide an adequate supply
of components, the requirement to obtain regulatory approval, and our ability to deliver quality products according to expected schedules. In light of these factors, the
application of complex revenue recognition rules to our products and services has required us to defer, and in the future will likely continue to require us to defer, a significant
amount of revenue until undetermined future periods. It may be difficult to predict the amount of revenue that we will recognize in any given period and amounts recognized
may fluctuate significantly from one period to the next.

Risks Related to our Common Stock

Our ability to continue our operations requires that we raise additional capital and our operations could be curtailed if we are unable to obtain the additional
funding as or when needed on terms acceptable to us or at all. As a result, our registered public accounting firm has included an explanatory paragraph relating to our
ability to continue as a going concern in its report on our audited financial statements included for the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.

Our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability requires us to successfully market and secure purchase orders for our products from customers currently
identified in our sales pipeline and to new customers as well. We also will be required to efficiently manufacturer and deliver equipment on those purchase orders. These
activities, including our planned research and development efforts, will require significant uses of working capital through the end of 2020 and beyond. Based on our current
operating plans, we believe that our existing cash at the time of this filing will only be sufficient to meet our anticipated operating needs through December 2020. Additionally,
we currently do not have sufficient funds to repay our debt to Steward Capital due at maturity on September 9, 2021 and must secure additional equity or debt capital in order to
repay this obligation. At the present time we have no commitments for any such funding and no assurance can be provided that we will be able to raise the needed funds on
commercially acceptable terms or at all. These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern through October 23, 2021. The financial
information contained in the financial statements included in this registration statement have been prepared on a basis that assumes that we will continue as a going concern,
which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. This financial information and these financial
statements included in this registration statement do not include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

We will need to raise additional financing to continue operations beyond December 2020. We will require additional funding to continue operations and realize our
business objectives in the future. If we are unable to continue as a going concern in the future, we may be unable to meet our obligations under the Steward Capital secured
loans, which could result in an acceleration of our obligations to repay all amounts owed thereunder, and we may be forced to liquidate our assets. In such a scenario, the values
we receive for our assets in liquidation or dissolution could be significantly lower than the values reflected in our financial statements.

We identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. If we are not able to remediate the material weakness and otherwise maintain
an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, the reliability of our financial reporting, investor confidence in us and the value of our common stock could
be adversely affected.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal controls. A material
weakness is defined as a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.

In connection with the annual report for the year ended December 31, 2019, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to
lack of segregation of duties and accounting resources. Accordingly, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have certified that, based on their knowledge, the
consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this registration statement, fairly present in all material respects our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows as of, and for, the periods presented in this this registration statement.

If our steps are insufficient to successfully remediate the material weakness and otherwise establish and maintain an effective system of internal control over financial
reporting, the reliability of our financial reporting, investor confidence in us and the value of our common stock could be materially and adversely affected. Effective internal
control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable and timely financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure controls and procedures, are designed
to reasonably detect and prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation could cause us to fail to
meet our reporting obligations.
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We have limited trading activity and a result, the price of our common stock might fluctuate significantly and you could lose all or part of your investment.

To date, our common stock has not been listed on any security exchanges, but rather has been quoted on the OTCQB. The limited trading activity and resulting
volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent you from being able to sell your shares of our common stock at or above the price you paid for your shares. The
trading price of our common stock may be volatile and subject to wide price fluctuations in response to various factors, including, but not limited to:

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial and operating results;

adverse results from delays in our product development;

legal, political, governmental or other regulatory developments, decisions or interpretations;

publication of research reports or coverage about us or our industry or positive or negative recommendations;
perceptions about the market acceptance of our products and services, and the recognition of our brand;
adverse publicity about our products and services, operating or financial results or industry in general;
overall performance of the equity markets;

introduction or discontinuation of products or services, or announcements of significant contracts, licenses or acquisitions, by us or our competitors;
additions or departures of key personnel;

threatened or actual litigation and government or regulatory investigations;

sale of shares of our common stock by us or members of our management or our stockholders; and

general economic conditions, both global and regional.

These and other factors might cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate unpredictably and substantially, which may negatively affect the liquidity of
our common stock. In addition, in recent years, the stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant impact on the
market price of securities issued by many companies across many industries, including our industry. The changes frequently appear to occur without regard to the operating
performance of the affected companies. Accordingly, the price of our common stock could fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with our company, and
these fluctuations could materially reduce our stock price.

Securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the overall market and in the market price of a company’s
securities. This litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs, divert our management’s attention and resources, and harm our business, operating results and
financial condition.

We are an “emerging growth company” and, as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to emerging growth companies, our
common stock may be less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act and we intend to take advantage of some of the exemptions from reporting requirements that are
applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including:

e reduced obligations with respect to financial data, including presenting only two years of audited financial statements and only two years of selected consolidated
financial data in this registration statement;

e not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

e not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB, regarding mandatory
audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements;

o reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports, proxy statements and registration statements; and

e cxemptions from the requirements of holding nonbinding advisory votes on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not
previously approved.

We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less
attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. We may take advantage of these reporting
exemptions until we are no longer an emerging growth company. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) December 31, 2021, (2) the last day of the
fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion, (3) the last day of the fiscal year in which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” as
defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, which would occur if the market value of our common stock held by non-
affiliates exceeded $700.0 million as of the last business day of the second fiscal quarter of such fiscal year or (4) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in
non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.
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Under Section 107(b) of the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to
private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, we will be subject to the same
new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

The Reverse Stock Split may not result in a proportional increase in the per share price of our common stock.

The effect of the Reverse Stock Split on the market price for our common stock cannot be accurately predicted. In particular, we cannot assure you that the prices for
shares of the common stock after the Reverse Stock Split will increase proportionately to prices for shares of our common stock immediately before the Reverse Stock Split.
The market price of our common stock may also be affected by other factors which may be unrelated to the Reverse Stock Split or the number of shares outstanding.

Furthermore, even if the market price of our common stock does rise following the Reverse Stock Split, we cannot assure you that the market price of our common
stock immediately after the proposed Reverse Stock Split will be maintained for any period of time. Moreover, because some investors may view the Reverse Stock Split
negatively, we cannot assure you that the Reverse Stock Split will not adversely impact the market price of our common stock. Accordingly, our total market capitalization after
the Reverse Stock Split may be lower than the market capitalization before the Reverse Stock Split.

Concentration of ownership of our common stock among our existing executive officers, directors and principal stockholders may prevent new investors from
influencing significant corporate decisions.

Our executive officers, directors and current beneficial owners of 5% or more of our common stock and their respective affiliates, in the aggregate, beneficially own
approximately 43% of our outstanding common stock as of December 3, 2020, and as of the date of this filing. As a result, these persons, acting together, would be able to
significantly influence all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election and removal of directors, any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our
assets, or other significant corporate transactions.

Some of these persons or entities may have interests different than yours. For example, they may be more interested in selling our company to an acquirer than other
investors, or they may want us to pursue strategies that deviate from the interests of other stockholders.

You may experience future dilution as a result of future equity offerings.

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation authorize the issuance of a maximum of 116,666,667 shares of common stock. Any additional financings effected
by us may result in the issuance of additional securities without stockholder approval and the substantial dilution in the percentage of common stock held by our then existing
stockholders. In order to raise additional capital, we may in the future offer additional shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for our
common stock at prices that may be higher or lower than the price per share in this offering, and investors purchasing shares or other securities in the future could have rights
superior to purchases in this offering or other existing stockholders. Also, we have reserved 3,333,334 shares of common stock for issuance pursuant to future awards under the
2018 Equity Incentive Plan. The issuance of such additional shares of common stock, or securities convertible or exchangeable into common stock, may cause the price of our
common stock to decline. Additionally, if all or a substantial portion of these shares are resold into the public markets then the trading price of our common stock may decline.

Our Board may issue and fix the terms of shares of our preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could adversely affect the voting power of holders of
our common stock or any change in control of our Company.

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation authorize the issuance of up to 10,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share,
with such designation rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by our Board. Our Board is empowered, without the need to obtain stockholder approval,
to issue shares of preferred stock with dividend, liquidation, conversion, voting or other rights which could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of
our common stock. In the event of such issuances, the preferred stock could be used, under certain circumstances, as a method of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change
in control of our company.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading volume
could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business, which
research and reports are not and would not be subject to our control. We currently do not have and may never obtain research coverage by securities analysts, and industry
analysts that currently cover us may cease to do so. If no securities analysts commence coverage of our company, or if industry analysts cease coverage of our company, the
trading price for our stock could be materially and adversely impacted. In the event we obtain securities analyst coverage, if one or more of the analysts who cover us
downgrade our stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price may be materially and adversely impacted. If one or more of these
analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which might cause our stock price and trading volume to
decline.
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We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock nor are we under any obligation to declare or pay such cash dividends. We currently intend to
retain any future earnings to fund our operations and the development and growth of our business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable
future. Our future ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock may be limited by any future debt instruments or preferred securities. As a result, you may only receive a
return on your investment in our common stock if the market price of our common stock increases to a price above the price you paid for them and you sell such shares.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares are restricted from immediate resale but may be sold into the market in the future. This could cause the
market price of our common stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. If our stockholders sell, or the market perceives that our
stockholders intend to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the market price of our common stock could decline significantly.

Of the 19,796,154 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2020, 2,986,176 shares are freely tradable without restriction by
stockholders who are not our affiliates and 16,809,978 shares are “restricted securities” as defined in Rule 144. Also, 8,195,807 restricted shares are subject to the terms of a
lock up agreement entered into in connection with the Acquisition by each of the former Ondas stockholders, which lock up agreement was subsequently amended, under which
these restricted shares cannot be sold until March 28, 2021.

In addition, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3, which was declared effective by the SEC on December 12, 2019, covering the resale of 2,894,862 shares of
common stock and 1,447,431 shares of common stock underlying warrants held by selling stockholders (“Investor Warrants”) who participated in a private equity offering
during the third and fourth quarter 2019. Pursuant to the registration statement on Form S-3, these selling stockholders may resell all or a portion of the 2,894,862 shares of
common stock, and all or a portion of the 11,447,431 shares of common stock underlying the Investor Warrants after the Investor Warrants are exercised by the holders.

In addition, we filed a registration statement on Form S-8 registering the issuance of 3,333,334 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under our 2018 Equity
Incentive Plan. Shares registered under this registration statement on Form S-8 are available for sale in the public market subject to vesting arrangements and exercise of options
and the restrictions of Rule 144 in the case of our affiliates.

Our shares of common stock are subject to the penny stock rules.

The SEC has adopted rules that regulate broker-dealer practices in connection with transactions in penny stocks. Penny stocks are generally equity securities with a
price of less than $5.00, other than securities registered on certain national securities exchanges or authorized for quotation on certain automated quotation systems, provided
that current price and volume information with respect to transactions in such securities is provided by the exchange or system. If the price per share of our common stock
continues to be is less than $5.00, our common stock will continue to be deemed a penny stock. The penny stock rules require a broker-dealer, before a transaction in a penny
stock not otherwise exempt from those rules, to deliver a standardized risk disclosure document containing specified information. In addition, the penny stock rules require that
before effecting any transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from those rules, a broker-dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a
suitable investment for the purchaser and receive (i) the purchaser’s written acknowledgment of the receipt of a risk disclosure statement; (ii) a written agreement to transactions
involving penny stocks; and (iii) a signed and dated copy of a written suitability statement. These disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing the trading activity in
the secondary market for our common stock, and therefore stockholders may have difficulty selling their shares.

Certain provisions of our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws and Nevada law make it more difficult for a third-party to acquire us and
make a takeover more difficult to complete, even if such a transaction were in the stockholders’ best interest.

Certain provisions of our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws and Nevada law make it more difficult for a third-party to acquire us and make a
takeover more difficult to complete, even if such a transaction were in the stockholders’ interest. For example, Nevada law provides that approval of two-thirds of the
stockholders is required to remove a director, which may make it more difficult for a third-party to gain control of the Company. This concentration of ownership limits the
power to exercise control by our minority stockholders.
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Our bylaws designate the Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark County of the State of Nevada as the sole and exclusive forum for certain actions, which could
limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disp with the Company and its directors, officers, or other employees and may
discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims.

Unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark County of the State of Nevada (the “Court”) shall be
the sole and exclusive forum for any stockholder (including a beneficial owner) to bring (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (ii) any
action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any Director, officer or other employee of the Company to the Company or the Company’s stockholders, (iii) any
action asserting a claim against the Company, any director or the Company’s officers or employees arising pursuant to any provision of the NRS, Chapters 78 or 92A of the
NRS or our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation or our Bylaws, or (iv) any action asserting a claim against the Company, any director or the Company’s officers or
employees governed by the internal affairs doctrine. However, each of these clauses (i) through (iv) will not apply to any claim (x) as to which the Court determines that there is
an indispensable party not subject to the jurisdiction of the Court (and the indispensable party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of the Court within ten (10) days
following such determination), (y) for which the Court does not have subject matter jurisdiction, or (z) which is vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum other
than the Court, including pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act, which provides for exclusive federal jurisdiction over suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created
by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act provides for concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over
all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, and as such the exclusive jurisdiction clauses set forth
above would not apply to such suits.

Risks Related to This Offering
Since we have broad discretion in how we use the proceeds from this offering, we may use the proceeds in ways with which you disagree.

We have not allocated the net proceeds from this offering for any specific purpose, except, subject to us receiving gross proceeds of not less than $20 million in the
offering, $5 million to repay principal and accrued interests under the Steward Capital Loan and Security Agreement, that matures on September 9, 2021. Accordingly, our
management will have significant flexibility in applying the net proceeds of this offering, including for any of the purposes described in the section titled “Use of Proceeds.”
You will be relying on the judgment of our management with regard to the use of these net proceeds, and you will not have the opportunity, as part of your investment decision,
to assess whether the proceeds are being used in ways you would agree with or ways which are likely to increase the value of your investment. Because of the number and
variability of factors that will determine our use of our net proceeds from this offering, their ultimate use may vary substantially from their currently intended use. It is possible
that the net proceeds will be invested in a way that does not yield a favorable, or any, return for our company or your investment. The failure of our management to use such
funds effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flow.

There is a limited market for our securities, which may make it more difficult to dispose of our securities and we may fail to sustain trading on Nasdaq, which
could make it more difficult for investors to sell their shares.

Our common stock is quoted on OTCQB, under the symbol “ONDS,” and, to date, has traded on a limited basis. Our common stock has been approved for listing on
Nasdaq under the symbol “ONDS,” and will begin trading on Nasdaq on December 4, 2020. In the event our common stock begins trading on the Nasdaq, there can be no
assurance that trading of our common stock on such market will be sustained. In the event that our common stock is not listed on Nasdaq or if we do not sustain such listing, our
common stock could be quoted only on the OTC Markets. Under such circumstances, you may find it significantly more difficult to trade, or to obtain accurate quotations for
our common stock and our common stock may become substantially less attractive to certain purchasers, such as financial institutions, hedge funds, and other similar investors.

A more active market for our common stock may never develoj, and we are under no obligation to seek out a more active market for our common stock
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If you purchase our securities in this offering, you may incur im
dilution if we issue additional equity or equity-linked securities in the future.

ial dilution in the book value of your shares. You will experience further

The public offering price per share of our common stock may be substantially higher than the net tangible book value per share of our common stock immediately
prior to the offering. After giving effect to the sale of 5,000,000 shares of our common stock in this offering, at the public offering price of $6.00 per share, and after deducting
the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us, purchasers of our common stock in this offering will incur immediate
dilution of $5.51 per share in the net tangible book value of the common stock they acquire. For a further description of the dilution that investors in this offering may
experience, see “Dilution.”
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If we issue additional shares of common stock (including pursuant to the exercise of outstanding stock options or warrants), or securities convertible into or
exchangeable or exercisable for shares of common stock, our stockholders, including investors who purchase shares of common stock in this offering, will experience additional
dilution, and any such issuances may result in downward pressure on the price of our common stock. We also cannot assure you that we will be able to sell shares or other
securities in any other offering at a price per share that is equal to or greater than the price per share paid by investors in this offering, and investors purchasing shares or other
securities in the future could have rights superior to existing stockholders.

Sales of a significant number of shares of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception that such sales could occur, could depress the market price
of our common stock.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public markets could depress the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise
capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We, our directors and our executive officers have agreed not to sell, dispose of or hedge any common stock or securities
convertible into or exchangeable for shares of common stock during the period from the date of this prospectus continuing through and including the date 90 days after the date
of this prospectus, subject to certain exceptions. The underwriters may, in their discretion, release the restrictions on any such shares at any time without notice. See
“Underwriting.” We cannot predict the effect that future sales of our common stock would have on the market price of our common stock.

If'the price of our common stock fluctuates significantly, your investment could lose value.

Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQB, under the symbol “ONDSD,” and, to date, has traded on a limited basis. Our common stock has been approved for
listing on Nasdaq under the symbol “ONDS,” and will begin trading on Nasdaq on December 4, 2020. We cannot assure you that an active public market will continue for our
common stock. If an active public market for our common stock does not continue, the trading price and liquidity of our common stock will be materially and adversely
affected. If there is a thin trading market or “float” for our stock, the market price for our common stock may fluctuate significantly more than the stock market as a whole.
Without a large float, our common stock would be less liquid than the stock of companies with broader public ownership and, as a result, the trading prices of our common
stock may be more volatile. In addition, in the absence of an active public trading market, investors may be unable to liquidate their investment in us. Furthermore, the stock
market is subject to significant price and volume fluctuations, and the price of our common stock could fluctuate widely in response to several factors, including, but not limited
to:

our quarterly or annual operating results;

changes in our earnings estimates or the failure to accurately forecast and appropriately plan our expenses;
failure to achieve our growth expectations;

failure to attract new customers or retain existing customers;

the effect of increased or variable competition on our business;

additions or departures of key or qualified personnel;

failure to adequately protect our intellectual property;

costs associated with defending claims, including intellectual property infringement claims and related judgments or settlements;
changes in governmental or other regulations affecting our business;

our compliance with governmental or other regulations affecting our business; and

changes in global or regional industry, general market, or economic conditions.

The stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations in recent years that have significantly affected the quoted prices of the securities of many
companies, including companies in our industry. The changes may not be possible to predict and often appear to occur without regard to specific operating performance. The
price of our common stock could fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with our company and these fluctuations could materially reduce our stock price.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which we refer to as the Securities
Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which we refer to as the Exchange Act, that relate to future events or to our future operations or
financial performance. Any forward-looking statement involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements to differ materially from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statement. Forward-looking statements include statements, other than statements of historical fact, about:

our plans to further develop our FullMAX system of wireless base stations;

our plans to further develop remote radios;

the adoption by our target industries of the new IEEE 802.16s standard for private cellular networks;

our future development priorities;

our estimates regarding the size of our potential target markets;

our expectations about the impact of new accounting standards;

our future operations, financial position, revenues, costs, expenses, uses of cash, capital requirements, our need for additional financing or the period for which our
existing cash resources will be sufficient to meet our operating requirements;

e  our plans to list our common stock on the Nasdaq and whether an active trading market for our common stock will develop; and

e  our strategies, prospects, plans, expectations, forecasts or objectives.
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Words such as, but not limited to, “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “targets,”
“likely,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “continue,” “scheduled” and similar expressions or phrases, or the negative of those expressions or phrases, are intended to identify
forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Although we believe that we have a reasonable basis for each forward-
looking statement contained in this registration statement, we caution you that these statements are based on our estimates or projections of the future that are subject to known
and unknown risks and uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, level of activity, performance, experience or achievements to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by any forward-looking statement. Actual results, level of activity, performance, experience or achievements may differ materially
from those expressed or implied by any forward-looking statement as a result of various important factors, including our critical accounting policies and risks and uncertainties
relating, to:
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our ability to obtain additional financing on reasonable terms, or at all;

our ability to repay our indebtedness;

the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses, costs, future revenues, uses of cash and capital requirements;

any outbreak or worsening of an outbreak of contagious diseases, or other adverse public health developments, could have a material and adverse effect on our
business operations, financial condition and results of operations;

the market acceptance of our wireless connection products and the IEEE 802.16s standard;

our ability to develop future generations of our current products;

our ability to generate significant revenues and achieve profitability;

our ability to successfully commercialize our current and future products, including their rate and degree of market acceptance;

our ability to attract and retain key scientific or management personnel and to expand our management team;

our ability to establish licensing, collaboration or similar arrangements on favorable terms and our ability to attract collaborators with development, regulatory and
commercialization expertise;

our ability to manage the growth of our business;

expenditures not resulting in commercially successful products;

our outreach to global markets;

our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and strategy;

our ability to expand, protect and maintain our intellectual property position;

the success of competing third-party products;

our ability to fully remediate our identified internal control material weaknesses;

regulatory developments in the United States and other countries; and

our ability to comply with regulatory requirements relating to our business, and the costs of compliance with those requirements, including those on data privacy and
security.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that our net proceeds from this offering will be approximately $27,100,000 after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses payable by us. If the option to purchase additional shares is exercised in full, we estimate that our net proceeds will be approximately $31,285,000.

As of September 30, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $2,100,000. We currently expect that we will use the net proceeds from this offering,
together with our existing cash and cash equivalents, as follows: (1) to continue research and development of future configurations of our FullMAX platform; (2) to build
product inventory and support expected increased levels of customer sales activity; (3) subject to us receiving gross proceeds of not less than $20 million in the offering, to
repay approximately $5 million of principal and accrued interests under the Steward Capital Loan and Security Agreement, that matures on September 9, 2021, and (4) for other
general corporate purposes. See Note 7 in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for additional information on the Steward Capital Loan and
Security Agreement.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, along with the net proceeds from this offering, together with interest on cash balances, will be sufficient to fund
our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements through at least the next twelve months. The amount and timing of our actual expenditures will depend upon
numerous factors, including the progress of our continuing product research, development, the timing and results of our product launch, as well as any collaborations that we
may enter into with third parties, and any unforeseen delays or cash needs.

Our expected use of the net proceeds from this offering represents our current intentions based upon our present plans and business conditions. The amounts and
timing of our actual use of net proceeds will vary depending on numerous factors, including the progress of our continuing product research, development, the timing and results
of our product launch, as well as any collaborations that we may enter into with third parties, and any unforeseen delays or cash needs. As a result, our management will have
broad discretion in the application of the net proceeds, and investors will be relying on our judgment regarding the application of the net proceeds of this offering. In addition,
we might decide to postpone or not pursue these certain of these activities if the net proceeds from this offering and the other sources of cash are less than, or do not last as long
as, expected. We have no current understandings, agreements or commitments for any material acquisitions or licenses of any products, businesses or technologies.

Pending their use, we plan to invest the net proceeds from this offering in short- and intermediate-term, interest-bearing obligations, investment-grade instruments,
certificates of deposit or direct or guaranteed obligations of the U.S. government.
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MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Market Information

Our common stock originally traded on OTC Markets, the OTC Pink (Current Information) tier of OTC Markets Group, Inc. under the trading symbol “ZVVT” on a
very limited basis. On October 5, 2018, the trading symbol changed to “ONDS.” On December 19, 2018, our common stock started being quoted on the OTCQB under the
symbol “ONDS” where it continues to trade on a very limited basis. In connection with the Reverse Stock Split, the letter “D” was added to the end of our symbol for a period of
20 business days after November 16, 2020 to indicate the Reverse Stock Split has occurred. Our common stock has been approved for listing on Nasdaq under the symbol
“ONDS,” and will begin trading on Nasdaq on December 4, 2020.

Stockholders
As of December 3, 2020, there were 282 stockholders of record with respect to our common stock.
DIVIDEND POLICY
We have never declared nor paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future, and
currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund our operations and the development and growth of our business. In addition, the terms of our indebtedness with Steward
Capital Holdings, LP prohibit us from paying cash dividends. Any future determination to declare and pay dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and

will depend on various factors, including applicable laws, our results of operations, our financial condition, our capital requirements, general business conditions, our future
prospects and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. Investors should not purchase our common stock with the expectation of receiving cash dividends.
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CAPITALIZATION
The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and capitalization as of September 30, 2020.

e on an actual basis, giving effect to the Reverse Stock Split; and

e on an as adjusted basis to give effect to (i) the Reverse Stock Split, (ii) our sale of 5,000,000 of shares of common stock in this offering at the public offering price
of $6.00 per share, after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us, (iii) the repayment of
approximately $5 million of principal and accrued interests under the Steward Capital Loan and Security Agreement, subject to us receiving gross proceeds of not
less than $20 million in this offering, and (iv) the issuance of 979,361 shares of common stock underlying 2,350,390 shares of Series A Preferred outstanding,

which Series A Preferred will mandatorily convert into common stock in connection with this offering.

You should read this information together with our financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this prospectus and the information set

forth under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this prospectus.

As of September 30,
2020
Actual As Adjusted
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash $ 2,148,345  § 24,248,345
Secured promissory notes, net of discount $ 11,453,047  § 6,453,047
Note payable, current portion 370,051 370,051
Notes payable, non-current 596,040 596,040
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock - par value $0.0001; 5,000,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2020 and none issued or outstanding at September
30, 2020 - -
Preferred stock, Series A — par value $0.0001, 5,000,000 shares authorized, 2,350,390 issued and outstanding at September 30, 2020
and none issued and outstanding, as adjusted 235 -
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 116,666,667 shares authorized, 19,796,154 shares issued and outstanding, actual; 116,666,667
shares authorized, 25,775,515 shares issued and outstanding, as adjusted 1,980 2,578
Additional paid-in capital 47,378,024 74,477,661
Accumulated deficit (61,125,373) (61,125,373)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ (13,745,134) § 13,354,866
Total capitalization $ (1,325,996) $ 20,774,004

The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on 20,775,515 shares of our common stock outstanding as of September 30,

2020, after giving effect to the assumptions set forth below:

°
common stock in connection with this offering;

e cxcluding outstanding warrants to purchase 1,879,785 shares of common stock; and
outstanding options and restricted stock units to purchase an aggregate of approximately 1,625,834 shares of common stock.
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including 979,361 shares of common stock underlying 2,350,390 shares of Series A Preferred outstanding, which preferred stock will mandatorily convert into

excluding 3,333,334 shares of common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to future awards under our 2018 Incentive Stock Plan, or the 2018 Plan, including




DILUTION

If you invest in our common stock, your interest will be diluted immediately to the extent of the difference between the public offering price per share of our common
stock and the as adjusted net tangible book value per share of our common stock immediately after this offering.

As of September 30, 2020, our historical net tangible book value was $(14,454,445) or $(0.73) per share of common stock after giving effect to the Reverse Stock
Split. Historical net tangible book value per share represents the amount of our total tangible assets less total liabilities, divided by 19,796,154, the number of shares of common
stock outstanding on September 30, 2020.

After giving effect to (i) the Reverse Stock Split, (ii) the sale of 5,000,000 shares of our common stock in this offering at the public offering price of $6.00 per share,
after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. (iii) the repayment of approximately $5 million of principal
and accrued interests under the Steward Capital Loan and Security Agreement, subject to us receiving gross proceeds of not less than $20 million in this offering, and (iv) the
mandatory conversion of the Series A Preferred, our net tangible book value as of September 30, 2020 would have been $12,645,555 or $0.49 per share. This amount represents
an immediate increase in net tangible book value of $1.22 per share to our existing stockholders. Investors purchasing our common stock in this offering will have paid $5.51
more than the as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering.

The following table illustrates this dilution on a per share basis:

Public offering price per share $ 6.00
Historical net tangible book value per share as of September 30, 2020 $ (0.73)

Increase in net tangible book value per share attributable to new investors $ 1.22

Net tangible book value per share after the offering 0.49
Dilution per share to new investors $ 5.51

If the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full in this offering, the as adjusted net tangible book value after the offering would be $0.63 per share, the
increase in as adjusted net tangible book value per share to existing stockholders would be $1.36 per share and the dilution per share to new investors would be $5.37 per share,
in each case at the public offering price of $6.00 per share.

The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on 20,775,515 shares of our common stock outstanding as of September 30,
2020, after giving effect to the assumptions set forth below:

e including 979,361 shares of common stock underlying 2,350,390 shares of Series A Preferred outstanding, which Series A Preferred will mandatorily convert into
common stock in connection with this offering;

e cxcluding outstanding warrants to purchase 1,879,785 shares of common stock; and

e cxcluding 3,333,334 shares of common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to future awards under our 2018 Incentive Stock Plan, or the 2018 Plan, including
outstanding options and restricted stock units to purchase an aggregate of approximately 1,625,834 shares of common stock.

If the shares described above that are reserved for issuance under our 2018 Plan are issued, or we otherwise issue additional shares of common stock in the future, there
could be further dilution to investors participating in this offering. In addition, we anticipate needing to raise additional capital before generating positive cash flows and we may
choose to raise additional capital because of market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe that we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating
plans. If we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the issuance of these securities could result in further dilution to our stockholders.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the notes to those financial
statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 and consolidated financial statements and notes to those financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2019 included elsewhere in this Report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and
uncertainties. See “Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information.” Our actual results may differ materially from those contained in or implied by any forward-looking
Statements.

Overview

On September 28, 2018, we consummated a reverse acquisition transaction to acquire a privately-held company, Ondas Networks Inc., and changed our name from
“Zev Ventures Incorporated” to “Ondas Holdings Inc.” As a result, Ondas Networks Inc. (“Ondas Networks™) became our wholly owned subsidiary. We refer to this transaction
as the “Acquisition.” In connection with the closing of the Acquisition, we discontinued the prior business of Zev Ventures as a reseller of sporting and concert tickets and our
sole business became that of Ondas Networks.

We design, develop, manufacture, sell and support FullMAX, our patented Software Defined Radio (“SDR”) platform for secure, licensed, private wide-area
broadband networks. This radio network provides point-to-multipoint, non-line of sight connectivity for industrial wireless networks. Since its inception on February 26, 2006,
Ondas Networks has devoted its efforts principally to research and development and the commercialization of our FullMAX wireless technology platform. We helped create the
IEEE 802.16s wireless broadband standard, which was published in the fourth quarter of 2017. In 2018, we initiated a business expansion plan designed to invest in our sales
and marketing and customer support capabilities in order to build our customer base.

We have incurred significant net losses since inception. For the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, our
accumulated deficit was approximately $61, $52 and $32 million, respectively. We expect to continue incurring substantial losses for the next several years as we continue to
develop, manufacture and market our technologies. Our operating expenses are comprised of research and development expenses, general and administrative expenses, and sales
and marketing expenses.

Our future capital requirements will depend upon many factors, including progress with developing, manufacturing and marketing our technologies, the time and costs
involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining and enforcing patent claims and other proprietary rights, our ability to establish collaborative arrangements, marketing
activities and competing technological and market developments, including regulatory changes and overall economic conditions in our target markets.

Our business consists of a single segment of products and services, all of which are sold and provided in the United States and certain international markets.
The Acquisition

On September 28, 2018, we entered into the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization (the “Merger Agreement”) with Zev Merger Sub, Inc. and Ondas
Networks to acquire Ondas Networks. The transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement were consummated on September 28, 2018 (the “Closing”), and pursuant to the
terms of the Merger Agreement, all outstanding shares of common stock of Ondas Networks, $0.00001 par value per share, (the “Ondas Networks Shares”), were exchanged for
shares of our common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (the “Company Shares”). Accordingly, Ondas Networks became our wholly-owned subsidiary and its business
became the business of the Company.

At the Closing, each Ondas Networks Share outstanding immediately prior to the Closing was exchanged for 1.274 Company Shares (the “Exchange Ratio”), with all
fractional shares rounded down to the nearest whole share. Accordingly, we issued an aggregate of 8,487,911 Company Shares for all of the then-outstanding Ondas Networks
Shares.

In connection with the Closing, we amended and restated our articles of incorporation, effective September 28, 2018 to (i) change our name to Ondas Holdings Inc.,
and (ii) increase our authorized capital to 360,000,000 shares, consisting of 350,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (representing 116,666,667 shares
after the Reverse Stock Split), and 10,000,000 shares of “blank check™ preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share. In connection with the Acquisition, our trading symbol
changed to “ONDS?” effective at the opening of business on October 5, 2018.
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Also in connection with the Closing, (i) our sole director appointed additional individuals, who previously sat on the board of Ondas Networks and its chief executive
officer, to serve on our Board, and our Board subsequently appointed our executive officers; (ii) the former holders of the Ondas Networks Shares executed lock-up agreements
(the “Lock-Up Agreements”), which provided for an initial twelve-month lock-up period followed by a subsequent 12-month limited sale period, commencing with the date of
Closing; (iii) we entered into a Common Stock Repurchase Agreement with an entity pursuant to which the entity sold an aggregate of 10,866,657 Company Shares (the
“Repurchase Shares™) to us at $0.0001 per share, for an aggregate consideration of $3,260 (the Repurchase Shares were canceled and returned to our authorized but unissued
shares); (iv) our Board approved, and our stockholders adopted, the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”) pursuant to which 3,333,334 Company Shares have been
reserved for issuance to employees, including officers, directors and consultants; and (v) we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with Energy Capital, a stockholder of
the Company, pursuant to which Energy Capital agreed to lend the Company an aggregate principal amount of up to $10 million, subject to specified conditions.

Subsequent to the Closing, (i) the Lock-Up Agreements were amended on August 30, 2019 to delete the 12-month limited sale period making all shares locked up until
September 28, 2020, and (ii) Energy Capital loaned the Company the full $10 million available under the Loan and Security Agreement. On September 27, 2019, Energy
Capital, LLC entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with other subscribers in which it converted an aggregate of approximately $10,563,000 principal and interest
outstanding under the Loan and Security Agreement into an aggregate of 1,408,414 Units (wherein a unit consisted of one-third of a share of common stock and one-sixth of
one warrant to purchase one share of Company common stock (the “Investor Warrant”)) of the Company. At the closing of the transaction, the debt owed Energy Capital under
the Loan and Security Agreement was extinguished and the Loan terminated pursuant to its terms. See NOTE § in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 for additional details.

Key Components of Our Results of Operations and Financial Condition
Revenues

Our revenues are derived principally from the sale of our multi-patented FullMAX wireless radio system. We also provide a warranty/maintenance program through an
annual contract. The warranty/maintenance contract requires payment in full at the time of execution of the contract. Revenue from the warranty/maintenance contract is
initially recorded as deferred revenue and is subsequently recorded as income spread equitably over the term of the contract. Due to the ongoing development and
commercialization process of our FullMAX solutions, our revenues have historically been generated by equipment trial and pilot programs and related services, in addition to a
modest number of full network deployments. We have historically had limited sales and customer service resources to support higher sales volumes. In 2018 and 2019, we
expanded our sales and marketing effort across multiple industries which dramatically increased our sales pipeline and the number of customers and projects we are targeting.
We expect this increased customer engagement to lead to a larger number of sales opportunities and revenue in 2020.

Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales is comprised primarily of the cost of components included in our FullMAX system and other costs associated with the assembly and delivery thereto.
We expect our investment in expanding our customer sales and service efforts to lead to increased volume of FullMAX equipment sales in future periods, which will lead to
higher costs of sales. Cost of sales as a percentage of revenue has historically been volatile due to low levels of revenue and can be skewed higher or lower due to the mix of
high margin base station units relative to remote units sold. Higher unit sales volume will provide scale manufacturing opportunities which could lead to a decline in the cost of
sales as a percentage of revenue in future periods.

General and Administration

General and administration expenses primarily include salary and benefit expense, legal and accounting services, professional services, rent and facilities costs, general
liability insurances, and travel expenses. We expect these expenses to increase as a result of continued growth in headcount and support of our business and operations.

Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses primarily include salary and benefit expense, trade shows, marketing programs and promotional material, travel expenses, and the

allocation of certain facility costs. We expect these expenses to increase as a result of continued growth in headcount and support of our business and operations.
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Research and Development

Research and development expenses primarily include salary and benefit expense and costs for contractors engaged in research, design and development activities
including intellectual property, travel expenses, and the allocation of certain facility costs. We expect our research and development costs to increase as we continue making
investments in developing new products in addition to new versions of FullMAX.
Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) primarily includes interest expense and impairment of deferred offering and financing costs.

Results of Operations

Three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to three months ended September 30, 2019

Three Months Ended

September 30,
2020 2019 Change

Revenue $ 614,026 $ 88,132 § 525,894
Cost of goods sold 365,863 15,185 350,678
Gross profit 248,163 72,947 175,216
Operating expenses:

General and administrative 1,823,336 1,036,013 787,323

Sales and marketing 253,560 1,174,293 (920,733)

Research and development 904,378 1,250,736 (346,358)
Total operating expense 2,981,274 3,461,042 (479,768)
Operating loss (2,733,111) (3,388,095) (654,984)
Other income (expense) (592,769) (1,815,564) (1,222,795)
Net loss (3,325,880) (5,203,659) (1,877,779)
Foreign currency translation - (21,655) 21,655
Comprehensive loss $ (3,325,880) § (5,225,314) § (1,899,434)
Revenues

Our revenues were $614,026 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $88,132 for the three months ended September 30, 2019. Revenues during
the three months ended September 30, 2020 included $245,075 for products, $16,410 for maintenance/service contracts, $351,248 for development services and $1,293 for other
revenues. Revenues during the same period in 2019 included $61,182 for products and $26,950 for maintenance/service contracts.

Cost of goods sold

Our cost of sales was $365,863 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $15,185 for the three months ended September 30, 2019. The increase in
cost of sales was a result of costs related to products totaling approximately $72,000, development services totaling approximately $273,000 and maintenance/service contracts
and other revenues totaling approximately $6,000.

Gross profit
Our gross profit increased by $175,216 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2019 based on the changes

in revenues and costs of sales as discussed above. Gross margin for the periods in 2020 and 2019 was 40% and 83%, respectively.
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Operating Expenses

Our principal operating costs include the following items as a percentage of total expense.

Three Months Ended

September 30,
2020 2019
Human resource costs, including benefits 36% 32%
Stock-based compensation 19% 14%
Travel and entertainment % 3%
Other general and administration costs:
Professional fees and consulting expenses 25% 31%
Other expense 12% 10%
Depreciation and amortization 2% 1%
Other research and deployment costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment 6% 6%
Other sales and marketing costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment % 3%
Operating expenses decreased by approximately $480,000, or 14% as a result of the following items:
(000s)
Human resource costs, including benefits $ (535)
Stock-based compensation 595
Travel and entertainment 93)
Other general and administration costs:
Professional fees and consulting costs (342)
Other expense 16
Depreciation and amortization 24
Other research and deployment costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment (40)
Other sales and marketing costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment (105)

$ (480)

During the three months ended September 30, 2020, with our continued reduction in business development and the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
have reduced costs compared to the same period in 2019 as detailed in the table above. These efforts to reduce spending resulted in a reduction in the major components of our
operating costs for the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. The increase in stock-based compensation during the three months ended
September 30, 2020 is primarily a result of the vesting of previously issued restricted stock units to Mr. Bushey.

Operating Loss

As a result of the foregoing, our operating loss decreased by $654,984, or 19%, to $2,733,111 for the three months ended September 30, 2020, compared with
$3,388,095 for the three months ended September 30, 2019, primarily as a result of reduced operating expenses and the increase in gross profit as discussed above.
Other Income (Expense), net

Other income (expense), net decreased by $1,222,795, or 67%, to $(592,769) for the three months ended September 30, 2020, compared with $(1,815,564) for the three
months ended September 30, 2019. During the three months ended September 30, 2020, compared to the same period in 2019, we reported a decrease in interest expense of
approximately $454,000, primarily a result of certain debt instruments converted into common stock of the Company during the three months ended September 30, 2019, and a
decrease in the write-off of financing costs of approximately $910,000, while interest and other income, net increased by approximately $6,000. The Company also recorded a
loss on the change of fair value of a derivative liability of approximately $136,000 during the three months ended September 30, 2020.

Net Loss

As a result of the net effects of the foregoing, net loss decreased by $1,877,779, or 36%, to $3,325,880 for the three months ended September 30, 2020, compared with
$5,203,659 for the three months ended September 30, 2019. Net loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted, was $(0.17) for the three months ended September 30, 2020,
compared with approximately $(0.31) for the three months ended September 30, 2019.
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Nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to nine months ended September 30, 2019

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2020 2019 Change

Revenue $ 1,969,598 $ 313,583 $ 1,656,015
Cost of goods sold 1,087,540 71,133 1,016,407
Gross profit 882,058 242,450 639,608
Operating expenses:

General and administrative 5,222,180 3,874,186 1,347,994

Sales and marketing 934,948 4,728,505 (3,793,557)

Research and development 2,555,223 4,411,266 (1,856,043)
Total operating expense 8,712,351 13,013,957 (4,301,606)
Operating loss (7,830,293) (12,771,507) (4,941,214)
Other income (expense) (1,523,413) (3,356,505) (1,833,092)
Net loss (9,353,706) (16,128,012) (6,774,306)
Foreign currency translation - (7,755) 7,755
Comprehensive loss $ (9,353,706) $  (16,135,767) $ (6,782,061)
Revenues

Our revenues were $1,969,598 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $313,583 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. Revenues during
the nine months ended September 30, 2020 included $1,043,585 for products, $53,500 for maintenance/service contracts, $866,119 for development services and $6,394 for
other revenues. Revenues during the same period in 2019 included $212,905 for products and $100,678 for maintenance/service contracts.

Cost of goods sold

Our cost of sales was $1,087,540 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $71,133 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. The increase in
cost of sales was primarily a result of costs related to products totaling approximately $259,000, development services totaling approximately $735,000 and maintenance/service
contracts and other revenues totaling approximately $22,000.

Gross profit

Our gross profit increased by $639,608 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019 based on the changes
in revenues and costs of sales as discussed above. Gross margin for the periods in 2020 and 2019 was 45% and 77%, respectively.

Operating Expenses
Our principal operating costs include the following items as a percentage of total expense.

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2020 2019

Human resource costs, including benefits 21% 42%
Stock-based compensation 28% 4%
Travel and entertainment 1% 5%
Other general and administration costs:

Professional fees and consulting expenses 33% 28%

Other expense 11% 10%

Depreciation and amortization 1% 1%
Other research and deployment costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment 5% 5%
Other sales and marketing costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment % 5%
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Operating expenses decreased by approximately $4,302,000, or 33% as a result of the following items:

(000s)

Human resource costs, including benefits $ (3,727)
Stock-based compensation 1,964
Travel and entertainment (525)
Other general and administration costs:

Professional fees and consulting costs (705)

Other expense (393)

Depreciation and amortization 11
Other research and deployment costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment (301)
Other sales and marketing costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment (626)

$ (4,302)

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, with our continued reduction in business development and the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
have reduced costs compared to the same period in 2019 as detailed in the table above. These efforts to reduce spending resulted in a reduction in the major components of our
operating costs for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. The increase in stock-based compensation during the nine months ended
September 30, 2020 is primarily a result of the vesting of previously issued restricted stock units to Mr. Bushey.

Operating Loss

As a result of the foregoing, our operating loss decreased by $4,941,214, or 39%, to $7,830,293 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, compared with
$12,771,507 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019, primarily as a result of reduced operating expenses and the increase in gross profit as discussed above.

Other Income (Expense), net

Other income (expense), net decreased by $1,833,092, or 55%, to $(1,523,413) for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, compared with $(3,356,505) for the
nine months ended September 30, 2019. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, compared to the same period in 2019, we reported a decrease in interest expense of
approximately $975,000, primarily a result of certain debt instruments converted into common stock of the Company during the nine months ended September 30, 2019, a
decrease in the write-off of financing costs of approximately $997,000, while interest and other income, net increased by approximately $3,000. The Company also recorded a
loss on the change of fair value of a derivative liability of approximately $136,000 during the three months ended September 30, 2020.

Net Loss
As a result of the net effects of the foregoing, net loss decreased by $6,774,306, or 42%, to $9,353,706 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, compared with

$16,128,012 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. Net loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted, was $(0.47) for the nine months ended September 30, 2020,
compared with approximately $(0.96) for the nine months ended September 30, 2019.

Year ended December 31, 2019 compared to year ended December 31, 2018

Year ended December 31,

2019 2018 Change

Revenue $ 320,383 $ 190,029 $ 130,354
Cost of sales 79,126 39,365 39,761
Gross profit 241,257 150,664 90,593
Operating expenses:

General and administrative 4,792,867 2,611,992 2,180,875

Sales and marketing 5,403,901 2,897,703 2,506,198

Research and development 5,416,425 3,076,502 2,339,923
Total operating expense 15,613,193 8,586,197 7,026,996
Operating loss (15,371,936) (8,435,533) 6,936,403
Other income (expense) (4,018,196) (3,661,331) 356,365
Net loss $  (19390,132) $  (12,096,864) $ 7,293,268
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Revenue

Revenue increased to approximately $320,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 from approximately $190,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018. Revenues
in both years were primarily generated via pilot programs and small customer deployments which increased year over year in 2019.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales increased to approximately $79,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 from approximately $39,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018. This
increase in cost of sales is a direct result of the increase in revenue during 2019.

Gross profit

Our gross profit increased to approximately $241,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 from approximately $151,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018
based on the changes in revenue and cost of sales as discussed above. Gross margins for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were 75% and 79%, respectively.

Operating Expenses
Our principal operating costs include the following items as a percentage of total expense.

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018

Human resource costs, including benefits 45% 43%
Travel and entertainment 4% 5%
Other general and administration costs:

Professional fees and consulting expenses 28% 33%

Other expense 11% 9%

Depreciation and amortization 1% 1%
Other research and deployment costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment 6% 5%
Other sales and marketing costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment 5% 4%

As a direct result of (i) the aforementioned Acquisition and (ii) the two $10 million dollars loan and security agreements discussed herein and inNOTE 8 in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company was able to launch its business expansion effort to open new
markets for FullMAX and invest in product development programs, through significant increases in human resources costs and professional and consulting costs.

Operating expenses changed by approximately $7,027,000 (82%) as a result of the following items:

(000s)

Human resource costs, including benefits $ 3,239
Travel and entertainment 262
Other general and administration costs:

Professional fees and consulting costs 1,612

Other expense 931

Depreciation and amortization 89
Other research and deployment costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment 479
Other sales and marketing costs, excluding human resources and travel and entertainment 415

$ 7,027

Operating Loss

As a result of the foregoing, our operating loss increased approximately $6,936,000, or 82%, to approximately $15,372,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019,
compared with approximately $8,436,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily as a result of increases associated with administrative support and increased
spending as we ramp up our sales and marketing and research and development efforts.
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Other Income (Expense)

Other expense increased by approximately $357,000, or 10%, to approximately $4,018,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with approximately
$3,661,000 for the comparable period in 2018.

Year ended December 31,

2019 2018 Change
(000s)

Interest expense $ 2,929 $ 2,664 $ 265
Impairment of deferred offering and financing costs associated with canceled financing efforts 920 - 920
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 183 - 183
Interest and other income (14) (23) 9
Change in fair value of derivative liability - 976 (976)
Loss on extinguishment of debt - 44 (44)

$ 4,018 § 3,661 § 357

Net Loss

Because of the net effects of the foregoing, net loss increased approximately $7,293,000, or 60%, to approximately $19,390,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019,
compared with approximately $12,097,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018. Net loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted, was ($0.37) for the year ended
December 31, 2019, compared with ($0.42) per share of common stock for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Summary of (Uses) and Sources of Cash

Nine Months Ended

September 30
2020 2019
Net cash used in operating activities $ (4,875,137) $  (11,333,484)
Net cash used in investing activities (13,606) (341,863)
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,884,060 15,200,982
Increase (decrease) in cash (4,683) 3,525,635
Effect of foreign currency transaction on cash - (5,180)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 2,153,028 1,129,863
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 2,148,345 § 4,650,318

The principal use of cash in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 was to fund the Company’s current expenses primarily related to sales
and marketing and research and development activities necessary to allow us to service and support customers. The decrease in cash flows used in operating activities of
approximately $6,400,000 is primarily a result of a reduced headcount, reduced travel and entertainment expense and lower product development spending. Cash flows used in
investing activities decreased by approximately $400,000 primarily due to a reduction in capital spending. The decrease in cash provided by financing activities of approximately
$10,300,000 is a result of a reduction in funding activities partially offset by funds provided by the Payroll Protection Program of $666,091 and the sale of Preferred Stock, net
of costs of $4,217,969, as described below.

In August 2020, the Company entered into securities purchase agreements with certain purchasers, which provided for the sale of an aggregate of $4.435 million of the
Company’s Series A Preferred at a cash purchase price of $2.00 per share (the “Purchase Price”) (the “2020 Offering”). Pursuant to the purchase agreements, the Company
issued an aggregate of 2,217,500 shares of Series A Preferred to the investors, which Series A Preferred will mandatorily convert into common stock in connection with this
offering. In connection with the 2020 Offering, Eric Brock, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer purchased 157,500 shares of Series A Preferred. The aggregate gross
proceeds to the Company from the 2020 Closing was $4.435 million. After payment of offering expenses, the net proceeds to the Company from the 2020 Closing was
approximately $4.22 million.
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For a summary of our outstanding short-term and long-term loans, see NOTES 7 and 8 in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.

Year ended
December 31,
2019 2018
Net cash used in operating activities $ (14,664,385) $ (8,517,263)
Net cash used in investing activities (354,822) (629,683)
Net cash provided by financing activities 16,042,372 9,820,791
Increase in cash 1,023,165 673,845
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,129,863 456,018
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 2,153,028 § 1,129,863

The principal use of cash in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was to fund the Company’s current expenses primarily related to sales and
marketing and research and development activities necessary to allow us to service and support a higher level of business activity as we expanded into new industry and
geographic markets. The increase in cash flows used in operating activities of approximately $6,148,000 is primarily a result of the addition of personnel, both employees and
third-party consulting services. The decrease in cash flows used in investing activities of approximately $275,000 is primarily a result of a decrease in the purchase of equipment
partially offset by the purchase of wireless spectrum licenses. The increase in cash provided by financing activities is primarily a result of the Company’s private placement of
its common stock totaling $6,110,000, net of closing fees (see NOTE 9 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
for further details).

For a summary of our outstanding Notes Payable and Other Financing Agreements and Secured Promissory Note, see NOTES 7 and 8 in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred losses since inception and have funded our operations primarily through debt and the sale of capital stock. As of September 30, 2020, we had a
stockholders” deficit of approximately $13,700,000. As of September 30, 2020, we had net short and long-term borrowings outstanding of approximately $11,800,000 and
$600,000, respectively. As of September 30, 2020, we had cash of approximately $2,100,000 and a working capital deficit of approximately $14,100,000.

Our future capital requirements will depend upon many factors, including progress with developing, manufacturing and marketing our technologies, the time and costs
involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining and enforcing patent claims and other proprietary rights, our ability to establish collaborative arrangements, marketing
activities and competing technological and market developments, including regulatory changes and overall economic conditions in our target markets. Our ability to generate
revenue and achieve profitability requires us to successfully market and secure purchase orders for our products from customers currently identified in our sales pipeline, as well
as new customers. We also will be required to efficiently manufacturer and deliver equipment on those purchase orders. These activities, including our planned research and
development efforts, will require significant uses of working capital through the end of 2020 and beyond. Based on our current operating plans, we believe that our existing cash
at the time of this filing, and cash received under the Paycheck Protection Program (see NOTE 8 in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 for further details) will only be sufficient to meet our anticipated operating needs through December 2020.

As of September 30, 2020, excluding operating lease liabilities, the outstanding amount, including principal, accrued interest, accredited costs, net of debt discount, of
indebtedness was $12,527,453, summarized in the table below. See NOTES 7 and 8 in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for further
details.

Outstanding
Amount as of
September 30,

2020

666,091
11,525,891
335,471

12,527,453

Paycheck Protection Program
Steward Capital Holdings, LP
Convertible Promissory Note

KA NLr  Pa
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In August 2020, the Company entered into securities purchase agreements with certain purchasers, which provided for the sale of an aggregate of $4.435 million of the
Company’s Series A Preferred at a cash purchase price of $2.00 per share (the “Purchase Price”) (the “2020 Offering”). Pursuant to the purchase agreements, the Company
issued an aggregate of 2,217,500 shares of Series A Preferred to the investors. In connection with the 2020 Offering, Eric Brock, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
purchased 157,500 shares of Series A Preferred. The aggregate gross proceeds to the Company from the 2020 Closing was $4.435 million. After payment of offering expenses,
the net proceeds to the Company from the 2020 Closing was approximately $4.21 million.

Accounting standards require management to evaluate the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of one year subsequent to the date of the filing
of this Registration Statement (“evaluation period”). As such, we have evaluated if cash on hand and cash generated through operating activities would be sufficient to sustain
projected operating activities through October 23, 2021. We anticipate that our current resources will be insufficient to meet our cash requirements throughout the evaluation
period, including funding anticipated losses and scheduled debt maturities. We expect to seek additional funds from a combination of dilutive and/or nondilutive financings in
the future. Because such transactions have not been finalized, receipt of additional funding is not considered probable under current accounting standards. If we do not generate
sufficient cash flows from operations and obtain sufficient funds when needed, we expect that we would scale back our operating plan by deferring or limiting some, or all, of
our capital spending and/or eliminating planned headcount additions, as well as other cost reductions to be determined. Because such contingency plans have not been finalized
(the specifics would depend on the situation at the time), such actions are also not considered probable for purposes of current accounting standards. Because, under current
accounting standards, neither future cash generated from operating activities, nor management’s contingency plans to mitigate the risk and extend cash resources through the
evaluation period, are considered probable, substantial doubt is deemed to exist about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. As we continue to incur losses, our
transition to profitability is dependent upon achieving a level of revenues adequate to support our cost structure. We may never achieve profitability, and unless and until doing
so, we intend to fund future operations through additional dilutive or non-dilutive financings. There can be no assurances; however, that additional funding will be available on
terms acceptable to us, if at all.

The financial information contained in these financial statements have been prepared on a basis that assumes that we will continue as a going concern, which
contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. This financial information and these financial
statements do not include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
From inception to September 30, 2020, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Contractual Obligations

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 229.10(f)(1) and are not required to provide information under this item.
Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and related disclosures in the financial statements. Management considers an accounting estimate to be critical
if:

e ifrequires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the time the estimate was made, and
e changes in the estimate or different estimates that could have been selected could have a material impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

We base our estimates and judgments on our experience, our current knowledge, our beliefs of what could occur in the future, our observation of trends in the
industry, information provided by our customers and information available from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions. We have identified the following accounting policies and estimates as those that we believe are most critical to our financial condition and results of operations and
that require management’s most subjective and complex judgments in estimating the effect of inherent uncertainties: share-based compensation expense, income taxes, and
impairment of long-lived assets.
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Share-Based Compensation Expense. We calculate share-based compensation expense for option awards and certain warrant issuances (“Share-based Awards”) based
on the estimated grant/issue date fair value using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model (“Black-Sholes Model”) and recognize the expense on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, net of estimated forfeitures. We have not included an estimate for forfeitures due to our limited history and we revise based on actual forfeitures each
period. The Black-Scholes Model requires the use of a number of assumptions including volatility of the stock price, the weighted average risk-free interest rate, and the vesting
period of the Share-based Award in determining the fair value of Share-based Awards. Although we believe our assumptions used to calculate share-based compensation
expense are reasonable, these assumptions can involve complex judgments about future events, which are open to interpretation and inherent uncertainty. In addition, significant
changes to our assumptions could significantly impact the amount of expense recorded in a given period.

Income Taxes. As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which
we operate. Our provision for income taxes is determined using the asset and liability approach to account for income taxes. A current liability is recorded for the estimated
taxes payable for the current year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates in effect
for the year in which the timing differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of changes in tax rates or tax laws are
recognized in the provision for income taxes in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets
to the amount more-likely-than-not to be realized. Changes in valuation allowances will flow through the statement of operations unless related to deferred tax assets that expire
unutilized or are modified through translation, in which case both the deferred tax asset and related valuation allowance are similarly adjusted.

The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of estimates, and the interpretation and application of complex tax laws. In
the ordinary course of our business, there are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. In spite of our belief that we have appropriate
support for all the positions taken on our tax returns, we acknowledge that certain positions may be successfully challenged by the taxing authorities. We determine the tax
benefits more likely than not to be recognized with respect to uncertain tax positions. Although we believe our recorded tax assets and liabilities are reasonable, tax laws and
regulations are subject to interpretation and inherent uncertainty; therefore, our assessments can involve both a series of complex judgments about future events and rely on
estimates and assumptions. Although we believe these estimates and assumptions are reasonable, the final determination could be materially different than that which is
reflected in our provision for income taxes and recorded tax assets and liabilities.

Complex Derivative Financial Instruments. From time to time we sell common stock and we issue convertible debt, both with common stock purchase warrants, which
may include terms requiring conversion price or exercise price adjustments based on subsequent issuance of securities at prices lower than those in the agreements of such
securities. Due to the complexity of the agreement, we use an outside expert to assist in providing the mark to market fair valuation of the liabilities over the reporting periods in
which the original agreement was in effect. It was determined that a Binomial Lattice option pricing model using a Monte Carlo simulation would provide the most accuracy
given all the potential variables encompassing a future dilutive event. This model incorporated transaction assumptions such as our stock price, contractual terms, maturity, risk
free rates, as well as estimates about future financings, volatility, and holder behavior. Although we believe our estimates and assumptions used to calculate the fair valuation
liabilities and related expense were reasonable, these assumptions involved complex judgments about future events, which are open to interpretation and inherent uncertainty. In
addition, significant changes to our assumptions could significantly impact the amount of expense recorded in a given period.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. Carrying values of property and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. If impairment indicators are present, we determine whether an impairment loss should be
recognized by testing the applicable asset or asset group’s carrying value for recoverability. This assessment requires the exercise of judgment in assessing the future use of and
projected value to be derived from the eventual disposal of the assets to be held and used. Assessments also consider changes in asset utilization, including the temporary idling
of capacity and the expected timing for placing this capacity back into production. If the carrying value of the assets is not recoverable, then a loss is recorded for the difference
between the assets’ fair value and respective carrying value. The fair value of the assets is determined using an “income approach” based upon a forecast of all the expected
discounted future net cash flows associated with the subject assets. Some of the more significant estimates and assumptions include: market size and growth, market share,
projected selling prices, manufacturing cost and discount rate. Our estimates are based upon historical experience, commercial relationships, market conditions and available
external information about future trends.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718):Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting
(“ASU 2018-07"). The amendments in ASU 2018-07 expand the scope of Topic 718 to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from
nonemployees. ASU 2018-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company has elected to early adopt ASU 2018-07. The adoption of this pronouncement had no impact on our accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-11 (“ASU 2017-117), Earnings Per Share (“Topic 260”)Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“Topic 480”), and
Derivatives and Hedging (“Topic 815”). ASU 2017-11 is intended to simplify the accounting for financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity. Among the
issues addressed are: (i) determining whether an instrument (or embedded feature) is indexed to an entity’s own stock; (ii) distinguishing liabilities from equity for mandatorily
redeemable financial instruments of certain nonpublic entities; and (iii) identifying mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interests. ASU 2017-11 was effective for the
Company on January 1, 2019. There was no material effect on the 2019 financial statements upon adoption.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15,Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) (“ASU 2016-15”). ASU 2016-15 is intended to reduce the diversity in practice
regarding how certain transactions are classified within the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-15 is effective for public business entities for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. There was no material effect on the 2019 and 2018 financial statements upon adoption.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02,Leases. This guidance requires lessees to record most leases on their balance sheet while recognizing expenses on
their income statements in a manner similar to current accounting. The guidance also eliminates current real estate-specific provisions for all entities. For lessors, the guidance
modifies the classification criteria and the accounting for sales-type and direct financing leases. The standard is effective for public business entities for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those years. Early adoption is permitted for all entities. In July 2018, the FASB amended the new leases
standard and issued ASU 2018-11, Leases, (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements to give entities another option for transition and to provide lessors with practical expedient. We
adopted ASU 2016-02 on January 1, 2019 utilizing the alternative transition method allowed for under ASU 2018-11. Comparative financial information was not adjusted and
will continue to be reported under ASC 840. We also elected the transition relief package of practical expedients and as a result we did not assess (1) whether existing or expired
contracts contain leases, (2) lease classification for any existing or expired leases, and (3) whether lease origination costs qualified as initial direct costs. We elected the short-
term lease practical expedient by establishing an accounting policy to exclude leases with a term of 12 month or less. We elected not to separate lease components from non-
lease components for our specified asset classes. Additionally, the adoption of the new standard resulted in increased disclosure requirements in our quarterly and annual filings.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The standard’s core principle is that a company will recognize
revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. In doing so, companies will need to use more judgment and make more estimates than under previous guidance. These may include identifying performance
obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance
obligation. In July 2015, the FASB approved the proposal to defer the effective date of ASU 2014-09 standard by one year. In 2016, the FASB issued final amendments to
clarify the implementation guidance for principal versus agent considerations (ASU 2016-08), accounting for licenses of intellectual property and identifying performance
obligations (ASU 2016-10), narrow-scope improvements and practical expedients (ASU 2016-12) and technical corrections and improvements to Topic 606 (ASU 2016-20) in
its new revenue standard. The guidance is effective for public entities for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods therein. Our services
are performed over the term of our contracts and customers are billed for those services as they are performed on a monthly basis. Revenue is recognized each month for the
services that have been provided to our customers. Additionally, we do not have significant exposure related to uncollectible accounts. We have performed a review of the
requirements of the new revenue standard and have performed our analysis of our customer contracts on a portfolio basis (by each hospital group) utilizing the five-step model
of the new standard. We have compared the results of our analysis to our current accounting practices. We adopted Topic 606 on January 1, 2018 using the full retrospective
transition method for recognizing revenue. The adoption of Topic 606 represents a change in accounting principle that will more closely align revenue recognition with the
delivery of our services to our customers and will provide financial statement readers with enhanced disclosures. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on
the timing and recognition of revenue for the services provided to our customers.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity (“ASU 2020-06"), which
simplifies an issuer’s accounting for convertible instruments by reducing the number of accounting models that require separate accounting for embedded conversion features.
ASU 2020-06 also simplifies the settlement assessment that entities are required to perform to determine whether a contract qualifies for equity classification and makes
targeted improvements to the disclosures for convertible instruments and earnings-per-share (EPS) guidance. This update will be effective for the Company’s fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2021, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Entities can elect to adopt the new guidance through either a modified retrospective method of transition or a fully
retrospective method of transition. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the pending adoption of the new standard on its financial statements and intends to adopt
the standard as of January 1, 2022.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12,/ncome Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which removes certain exceptions for
recognizing deferred taxes for investments, performing intraperiod tax allocation and calculating income taxes in interim periods. ASU 2019-12 is applicable to all entities
subject to income taxes. ASU 2019-12 provides guidance to minimize complexity in certain areas by introducing a policy election to not allocate consolidated income taxes
when a member of a consolidated tax return is not subject to income tax and guides whether to relate a step-up tax basis to a business combination or separate transaction. ASU
2019-12 changes the current guidance of making an intraperiod allocation, determining when a tax liability is recognized after a foreign entity investor transitions to or from
equity method of accounting, accounting for tax law changes and year-to-date losses in interim periods, and determining how to apply income tax guidance to franchise taxes.
The amendments ASU 2019-12 are effective for all public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 and include interim periods. The guidance is
effective for all other entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021 and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company is evaluating impact on our accompanying consolidated financial statements.

In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-11, Codification Improvements to Topic 326 Financial Instruments-Credit Losses, which amends certain aspects of
the Board’s new credit loss standard (ASC 326). ASU 2019-11 is applicable to companies that hold financial assets in the scope of the credit losses standard. FASB permits to
include the following in estimate if expected credit losses: expected recoveries of financial assets previously written off and expected recoveries of financial assets with credit
deterioration. The scope of guidance related to expected recoveries includes purchased financial assets with credit deterioration. ASU 2019-11 permits entities to record
negative allowance when measuring expected credit losses for a purchased credit deteriorated financial asset and expected recoveries cannot exceed the aggregate amount
previously written off or expected to be written off. When discounted cash flow method is not being used to estimate expected credit losses, expected recoveries cannot include
any amounts in an acceleration of the noncredit discount. An entity may include increases in expected cash flows after acquisition. Early adoption is not permitted. The
Company is evaluating impact on our accompanying consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU, 2018-13 that eliminates certain disclosure requirements for fair value measurements for all entities, requires public entities to
disclose certain new information and modifies some disclosure requirements. The FASB developed the amendments to ASC 820 as part of its broader disclosure framework
project, which aims to improve the effectiveness of disclosures in the notes to financial statements by focusing on requirements that clearly communicate the most important
information to users of the financial statements. The new guidance is effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and for interim periods within
those fiscal years. An entity is permitted to early adopt either the entire standard or only the provisions that eliminate or modify requirements. We are currently evaluating the
effect of this guidance on our disclosures.
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BUSINESS
Corporate Overview of Ondas Holdings Inc.

Ondas Holdings Inc. was originally incorporated in Nevada on December 22, 2014 under the name Zev Ventures Incorporated. On September 28, 2018, we
consummated a reverse acquisition transaction to acquire a privately-held company, Ondas Networks Inc., and changed our name from “Zev Ventures Incorporated” to “Ondas
Holdings Inc.” As a result, Ondas Networks Inc. became our wholly-owned subsidiary. We refer to this transaction as the “Acquisition.” In connection with the closing of the
Acquisition, we discontinued the prior business of Zev Ventures as a reseller of sporting and concert tickets and our sole business became that of Ondas Networks. The use of
the words “we,” “our,” the “Company” and “Ondas Holdings” means Ondas Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries. Where necessary for clarification purposes, Ondas Holdings,
Ondas Networks or Zev Ventures may be used independently.

Corporate Overview of Ondas Networks Inc.

Ondas Networks provides wireless connectivity solutions enabling mission-critical Industrial Internet applications and services. We refer to these applications as the
Mission-Critical Internet of Things (“MC-10T”). The Company’s wireless networking products are applicable to a wide range of MC-IoT applications, which are most often
located at the very edge of large industrial networks. These applications require secure, real time connectivity with the ability to process large amounts of data at the edge. Such
applications are required in all of the major critical infrastructure markets, including rail, electric grids, drones, oil and gas, and public safety and government, where secure,
reliable and fast operational decisions are required in order to improve efficiency and ensure a high degree of safety and security. We design, develop, manufacture, sell and
support FullMAX, our patented, Software Defined Radio (“SDR”) platform for secure, licensed, private, wide-area broadband networks. Our customers install FullMAX
systems in order to upgrade and expand their legacy wide-area network (“WAN”) infrastructure. Our MC-IoT intellectual property has been adopted by the Institute of
Electrical and Electronics Engineers (“IEEE”), the leading worldwide standards body in data networking protocols, and forms the core of the IEEE 802.16s standard. Because
standards-based communications solutions are preferred by our mission-critical customers and ecosystem partners, Ondas has taken a leadership position in IEEE as it relates to
wireless networking for industrial markets. As such, management believes this standards-based approach supports the adoption of the Company’s technology across a
burgeoning ecosystem of partners and end markets.

Our FullMAX SDR platform is an important and timely upgrade solution for privately-owned and operated wireless WANS, leveraging Internet Protocol-based
communications to provide more reliability and data capacity for our mission-critical infrastructure customers. Critical infrastructure markets throughout the globe have reached
an inflection point where legacy serial and analog based protocols and network transport systems no longer meet industry needs. In addition to offering enhanced data
throughput, FullMAX is an intelligent networking platform enabling the adoption of sophisticated operating systems and equipment supporting next-generation MC-IoT
applications over wide field areas. These new MC-IoT applications and related equipment require more processing power at the edge and the efficient utilization of network
capacity and scarce bandwidth resources which can be supported by the “Fog-computing” capability integrated in our end-to-end network platform. Fog-computing utilizes
management software to enable edge compute processing and data and application prioritization in the field enabling our customers more reliable, real-time operating control of
these new, intelligent MC-IoT equipment and applications at the Edge.
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We sell our products and services globally through a direct sales force and value-added sales partners to critical infrastructure providers including major rail operators,
commercial and industrial drone operators, electric and gas utilities, water and wastewater utilities, oil and gas producers and pipeline operators, and for other critical
infrastructure applications in areas such as homeland security and defense, and transportation. We continue to develop our value-added reseller relationships which today
include a major strategic partnership with Siemens Mobility for the development of new types of wireless connectivity for the North American Rail. In addition, Ondas and
JVCKenwood, a global supplier of Land Mobile Radio (LMR) systems, have jointly responded to a request from the rail industry for the design and delivery of a next
generation data and voice platform. We believe our Siemens’ partnership and our joint effort with JVCKenwood are indicative of the potential for additional Tier 1
partnerships in our other vertical markets including securing reseller relationships with major suppliers to the worldwide government and homeland security markets. These
partnerships are being driven by the flexibility of our FullMAX software to support legacy industrial protocols (e.g. Push to Talk Voice, Dial-up Serial Data Communications,
and Advanced Train Control System — ATCS) while simultaneously operating our state of the art MC-IoT protocols. This dual and multi-mode software capability provides
major industrial customers with a seamless migration path to advanced internet-protocol-based networks. Over time, these legacy functions, like Push to Talk Voice and ATCS,
are transformed into just several of many new data applications we can support.

Background

The Internet of Things (“IoT”) is transforming the way businesses and industries function with a massive shift from on-premise locally executed software to cloud
computing. IoT is applicable across all global consumer, enterprise, industrial and government markets. By storing and processing data using cloud technology, there is now an
ability to access, analyze and utilize vast amounts of information and liberate operators from accessing data in limited amounts. Cloud computing has enabled the access of
additional features on IoT devices such as smartphones, computers and laptops without the need for investing in additional computing power or memory.

However, specific areas of IoT, particularly the mission-critical industrial markets, have additional requirements when compared to enterprise and consumer markets.
With industrial markets, the bulk of the critical assets are dispersed over vast field area operations and varying geographical locations. This wide dispersion of assets shifts the
emphasis from the centralized private Cloud to the network edge and Fog which requires reliance on edge computing and the processing of data in the field, closer to the source
of the data generation. The primary benefit of Fog networks is to enable the execution of mission-critical functions and manage and operate intelligent field equipment and
systems many of which require real-time decision-making. Edge computing is required for low-latency applications where real-time performance is critical for safety and
efficient systems performance. In addition, processing data closer to the source improves reliability and offers security benefits. The Fog and edge computing advantages
enabled by our FullMAX technology are now driving the adoption of our connectivity solutions by some of the largest industrial companies worldwide including the major
North American freight rail operators.
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In a MC-IoT wide-area network, a Fog-computing architecture requires an intelligent communications system able to manage all network resources, including edge
remotes, smart equipment and machinery and other network elements such as sensor networks. Importantly, advanced MC-IoT applications require highly reliable network
performance over the air with customized Quality of Service (“QoS”) standards which are not available in legacy narrowband wireless networks. The intelligent
communications system is coordinated via base stations which contain network management software algorithms designed to control critical operations and distribute
bandwidth across multiple edge computing applications required by customers. The Fog-computing environment can be further enhanced by high-power edge remote radios
with embedded computing power and software providing the ability to host MC-IoT software applications or to reliably interface with intelligent equipment and sensor
networks deployed across the field of operations. The interplay between base stations and remote edge radios requires a robust software communications layer to ensure that
network performance and operating data is properly communicated to the corporate cloud located in the network operations center.

Fog Computing Slower
Corporate Cloud Architecture
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For example, the North American freight rail operators are seeking to deploy new, on-locomotive and wayside MC-IoT technologies along the track in order to

reliably enhance safety and improve efficiency and profitability of train operations. These rail operators currently operate antiquated legacy communications systems utilizing
serial based narrowband wireless technologies for voice and data communications. These legacy wireless networks have limited data capacity and are unable to support the
adoption of new, intelligent train control and management systems. In addition to data capacity challenges, rail operators need to reliably cover the vast and often remotely
located rail track and related infrastructure which extends nationwide over 140,000 miles. The rail operators require a next-generation, robust broadband system with
significantly increased data throughput capacity and Fog networking capability. A transition to integrated Fog-computing communications wireless systems will enable the rail
operators to drive more intelligence to the edge of their operating environments enabling real time automation and better operator control of many critical operating systems
related to train control, crossing safety, train and track integrity and drone operations. This upgrade cycle is being driven by a recent key event which occurred in May 2020 in
which the Class 1 rail systems in the U.S. were awarded new nationwide “greenfield” wideband radio spectrum by the Federal Communications Committee (“FCC”). As part of
the award, the rail operators are required, over the next three years, to vacate a series of legacy narrowband channels. The completion of this multiyear negotiation between the
FCC and other licensed users is projected to generate a major network upgrade cycle for the rail industry.

51




There are many other mission-critical industries across the globe operating private networks that are similarly constrained by their legacy narrowband wireless
communications systems. The lack of bandwidth, appropriate software and integrated edge computing and Fog capability are a bottleneck for the adoption of next-generation
MC-IoT applications and intelligent equipment that can serve to create more efficient, profitable, and safer operations. This can be seen in Land Mobile Radio (“LMR”’) markets
where legacy critical voice networks lack increasingly valuable data capacity and next generation networks such as FullMAX can provide voice over IP as a data application.
Similarly, the adoption of smart grid technologies by electric utilities, well pump automation systems by oil producers and new navigation systems for commercial and industrial
drones require new, robust wireless network platforms such as FullMAX that can also offer the capability of Fog-computing architectures.

COVID-19

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (“COVID-19") was identified in Wuhan, China, and has subsequently spread to other regions of the world, and has
resulted in increased travel restrictions, business disruptions and emergency quarantine measures across the world including the United States.

The Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations were impacted from the COVID-19 pandemic during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2020 as follows:

e  Sales and marketing efforts were disrupted as our business development team was unable to travel to visit customers and customers were unable to receive visitors
for on-location meetings;

e  Field activity for testing and deploying our wireless systems was delayed due to the inability for our field service team to install and test equipment for our
customers;

e  Supply chain disruptions led to component shortages and inefficiencies in and delays in producing and delivering equipment for certain purchase orders; and

e Delays in fulfilling purchase orders reduced our cash flow from operations.

In the first quarter of 2020, we reduced our business activity to critical operations only, and furloughed 80% of our workforce. Per orders issued by the Health Officer
of the County of Santa Clara, our corporate headquarters were closed, except for functions related to the support of remote workers and product support related to the essential
transportation sector. On May 13, 2020, we reopened our corporate headquarters and as of September 30, 2020 we have no employees remaining on furlough. Of the 18
employees previously furloughed, 14 are currently employed by us.

Additionally, on March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was enacted. The CARES Act is an approximately $2
trillion emergency economic stimulus package in response to the COVID-19 outbreak, which among other things contains numerous income tax provisions. Some of these tax
provisions are expected to be effective retroactively for years ending before the date of enactment. The Company applied for, and received, funds under the Paycheck Protection
Program after the period end in the approximate amount of $666,000. The application for these funds requires the Company to, in good faith, certify that the current economic
uncertainty made the loan request necessary to support operations of the Company.

The Company expects its business, financial condition and results of operations will be impacted from the COVID-19 pandemic for the remainder of 2020 primarily
due to the deferral of customer activity from the first half of the year. Further, the COVID-19 pandemic is ongoing and remains an unknown risk for the foreseeable future. The
extent to which the coronavirus may impact our business will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information
which may emerge concerning the severity of the coronavirus. As a result, the Company is unable to reasonably estimate the full extent of the impact from the COVID-19
pandemic on its future business, financial condition and results of operations. The Company may also be unable to comply with the financial and other material covenants under
its debt agreements and may not be able to negotiate waivers or amendments to such debt agreements in order to maintain ongoing compliance. In addition, if the Company
were to experience any new impact to its operations, or incur additional unanticipated costs and expenses as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, such operational delays and
unanticipated costs and expenses there could be a further adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations in 2020 and 2021.
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On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was enacted. The CARES Act is an approximately $2 trillion
emergency economic stimulus package in response to the Coronavirus outbreak, which among other things contains numerous income tax provisions. Some of these tax
provisions are expected to be effective retroactively for years ending before the date of enactment. The Company applied for, and received, funds under the Paycheck Protection
Program after the period end in the approximate amount of $666,000. The application for these funds requires the Company to, in good faith, certify that the current economic
uncertainty made the loan request necessary to support operations of the Company. This certification further requires the Company to consider its current business activity and
ability to access other sources of liquidity sufficient to support ongoing operations in a manner that is not significantly detrimental to the business. The receipt of these funds,
and the forgiveness of the loan related to these funds, is dependent on the Company having initially qualified for the loan and qualifying for the forgiveness of such loan based
on our future adherence to the forgiveness criteria.

Although COVID-19 has had an immediate near-term impact on our business operations, we also believe the one outcome of the pandemic will be to reinforce the
need for more reliable private commercial and industrial communications. This can be seen specifically in the need for new Unmanned Aerial Systems solutions including the
safe command and control of drones as remote delivery method. In a recent filling at the FCC, the Drone Responders Public Safety Alliance stated, (the) “current COVID-19
pandemic only emphasizes this need, as remote methods of commercial delivery will only become more essential to serve the public good. In light of the current COVID-19
crisis, UAS have the potential to deliver payloads of medical equipment and supplies.”

Our Strategy

Our goal is to be a global leader in providing secure wireless connectivity solutions enabling high-bandwidth, mission-critical Industrial Internet applications and
services. We intend to leverage our patented FullMAX technology and the IEEE 802.16s standard to achieve this goal. We have adopted a “Deep and Wide” marketing strategy
designed to drive adoption of our mission-critical connectivity solutions into global critical infrastructure end markets. Our strategy is to deeply penetrate the Class 1 Freight
Rail, government and aviation markets while continuing the expansion of our distribution and support capabilities alongside ecosystem partners such as Siemens into adjacent
vertical end markets such as oil and gas, electric, gas and water utilities and military sectors.

The key elements of our growth strategy include the following:

e Deliver on sales pipeline opportunities. Our marketing efforts have generated the potential for significant sales in our targeted end markets. Our sales activity in
the North American Class 1 Railroad sector has resulted in several pilot programs for multiple railroad operators. Once we successfully complete field testing, we
expect to work with our customers to design and develop a network deployment strategy which we expect to lead to purchase orders for equipment and services. We
have similar field testing and initial system deployments planned in the UAS markets, security, electric and gas utilities, and oil and gas markets.

o  Secure additional marketing partnerships and OEM relationships. We service blue chip customers in critical infrastructure sectors with standards-based,
mission-critical connectivity solutions. Those customers value the experience and resources provided by additional ecosystem partners that help support the growth
of the MC-IoT end markets. As we have done with Siemens Mobility, we intend to pursue marketing and OEM partnership agreements with other Tier 1 global
industrial and communications equipment suppliers that have extensive reach and domain expertise in our targeted end markets. These relationships will offer
customers greater choice, expanded levels of after-market support and services, and the potential for greater product integration with intelligent equipment, and
systems that are increasingly being deployed by our critical infrastructure customers.

o Develop new products and features to continuously improve our customer value. We introduced our Mercury remote radio in the first quarter of 2020 in order to
address the expanding MC-IoT market for high volume, lower cost endpoint radios. Our Mercury radios are integrated into our existing FullMAX private network
solutions, are compliant with IEEE 802.16s and can be utilized in both Tier 1 and Tier 2 network configurations. We will continue to enhance our SDR capabilities
to aggregate non-contiguous channels with a focus on traditional licensed LMR frequency bands to provide IP data networking solutions in historically analog push-
to-talk (PTT) bands. We will also work with ecosystem partners to develop dual-mode products to assist in the migration from legacy networks to our next-
generation FullMAX platform.
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o Expand our MC-IoT capabilities via partnerships, joint ventures, or acquisitions. In addition to internal investment and development, we will actively pursue
external opportunities to enhance our product offerings and solutions for our critical infrastructure customers via joint ventures, partnerships, and acquisitions. This
activity will be focused on companies with complementary technologies or product offerings or synergistic distribution strategies.

In executing our go-to-market strategy, we intend to monetize our software-based intellectual property and grow revenue and cash flow with embedded FullMAX
software sales, Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) arrangements, IP royalties based on Ondas software and through additional services provided to customers and ecosystem
partners. Customers deploy our connectivity and Fog-computing platform in private networks that are designed for lifetimes of 10 — 15 years or even longer. Our FullMAX
platform is software-defined and offers customers flexibility to expand capacity and evolve network utilization. Similarly, our ecosystem partners often integrate our FullMAX
software and wireless capability into their own equipment and systems which their customers purchase and deploy are also designed for long lifetimes. As such, we believe our
software solutions provide ongoing revenue opportunities and sales models both related to both connectivity value and edge computing capability. Customers and ecosystem
partners will require ongoing FullMAX system and security enhancements and for us to design additional features which create opportunities for additional, recurring revenue
and profit streams. Our monetization strategies include:

Systems sales: Our FullMAX deployments are typically large, mission-critical wide-area networks deployed and privately operated by our industrial and government
customers. These end-to-end system deployments involve sales consisting of both base stations and edge radio end points with embedded FullMAX software and network
management software and tools.

Software and hardware maintenance agreements: Our customers contract for extended software and hardware maintenance which provide them with critical ongoing
support for their installed network. These SaaS contracts provide revenue to Ondas in the year following an initial installation. Software maintenance licenses entitle the
customer to ongoing software and security upgrades as well as enabling the provision of additional system features. Similarly, hardware maintenance programs provide
customers extended equipment warranty terms for an installed network. These SaaS maintenance arrangements allow our customers to continue to maintain a modern, flexible
and upgradeable network over a long period of time. These agreements may extend for multiple years given the long average life of the installed and growing network.

Licensing / Royalties: In certain system deployments, our ecosystem partners will chose to embed FullMAX software into their own hardware and software platforms
providing Ondas with an ongoing per device multi-year revenue stream. Licensing is an effective way for an ecosystem partner to jumpstart customer activity. Altern